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Year In Review

Dear Shareholder, 

We are pleased to present the 2008 Year in Review.

ICSGlobal made good progress with its dual edged global medical banking strategy - the expanded deployment of the Thelma healthcare 
clearinghouse technology and the acquisition of established, profitable medical billing companies - in the Australian, UK and US markets.

We were pleased with being able to increase our revenue by 78% over the year to $1.8m while managing to keep costs flat at $4.0m, even with 
our first acquisition. The increase in revenue of approximately $0.8m corresponded to the reduction in our loss from $2.6m in 2007 to $1.8m 
this year. The Company is now better positioned and resourced than ever before for becoming profitable, for which we maintain our sense of 
urgency.

Progress in Australia 

Strong transaction volume growth continued through the September 2008 quarter, as shown in the graph below. This trend is expected to 
continue.

There was a steady stream of new customers right across the board - health funds, hospitals, day surgeries, medical practices, diagnostic 
groups and medical software vendors. The re-signing in August of nib health funds limited, a Thelma customer for almost six years and the 
nation’s first private health insurer to list on the Australian Securities Exchange, was a solid endorsement of our products and services.

The Thelma business in Australia has been impacted by Medicare Australia’s participation in the private ehealth market over the past five 
years to try to block the private sector’s involvement in eHealth. Consequently, on 11 August 2008, Thelma Pty Ltd, a wholly owned subsidiary 
of ICSGlobal, filed an application in the Federal Court of Australia alleging that Medicare Australia has unlawfully used its market power in 
providing electronic private health transaction services into the private health sector, free of charge, in direct competition to Thelma, for the 
purpose or effect of eliminating or substantially damaging Thelma; and/or to deter or prevent Thelma from engaging in competitive conduct. The 
Board of ICSGlobal is confident in the merits of the company’s claim against Medicare Australia.

Progress in the US 

In March, Mr BP Fulmer commenced as President and Chief 
Executive Officer of Thelma-US, Inc. Three months later 
Ms Patti Velasco joined him as Executive Vice President, 
Healthcare Transaction Services. These two leading US 
medical banking executives previously worked together for 
six years at ACS EDI Gateway, Inc., a US Fortune 500 eHealth 
company.

Contracts have been signed for a number of strategic 
partnerships: in April with MedData for the interchange of 
eligibility transactions; in May with Revenue Management 
Solutions (RMS) for the interchange of revenue cycle 
management transactions; in June with The SSI Group Inc.
for the interchange of electronic claiming transactions; and 
in August with ClaimRemedi Inc. for the interchange of 
electronic claiming transactions.

Volumes 
continue to 
accelerate; 
steady flow 
of new 
customers

Strong management team 
in place; major transaction 
partnerships in place; 
transactions live; solid deal 
pipeline for increasing 
transaction volume and 
acquisitions
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What Thelma actually does to assist these organisations is a very similar extension to what it does in Australia. In the next section of the 
Annual Report is an in depth description of our US transaction services business. In summary, Thelma-US acts as a hub or “interchange” to 
move transactions around and give US healthcare providers and payers cost effective access to the full suite of medical banking transactions 
which puts them in control of their revenue cycle. Thelma-US receives a fee for each transaction it interchanges between the various parties.

Thelma-US plans to build its transaction services business through a combination of organic growth and acquisitions. The first billing company 
customer, PRS URO, signed up in August.

Commercial transactions through Thelma-US went live in August. The Thelma-US system is hosted in Dallas, Texas with the Disaster Recovery 
data centre in Herndon, Virginia.

The US acquisition program has seen nine target companies reviewed. We endeavoured to acquire one in January but the global credit crisis 
meant we were unable to fund it in time. Five others have failed to meet our selection criteria, and dialogue continues with three more.

The US is a very exciting market for us to be active in, and we expect it will become our major market during the coming financial year.

Progress in the UK 

On 1 December, ICSGlobal took possession of its first acquisition, The London Patient Billing Service 
(LPBS). A rapid growth in customers put pressure on existing operations and affected productivity 
due to the need for more staff and additional premises.

In June Mr Garry Chapman was appointed General Manager of LPBS and he has quickly identified 
new business systems and processes that are set to more than double the billing productivity of 
staff. The re-engineering measures include streamlining the recruitment and training programs; 
internal knowledge sharing; and the establishment of billing teams based on medical specialty.

These measures set the business up to deal with major growth and allow Dr Diana Bell, the founder 
of LPBS, to progressively step back from operations to focus fully on sales and marketing in her role 
as Non-Executive Director of LPBS. Dr Bell has been busy developing a number of new business 
opportunities for LPBS, and there are a large number of new doctors queued to join.

On the UK health transaction side, Thelma-EU is live for electronic consultant (ie specialist) claims 
between private health insurer Exeter Friendly Society and MidexPro, one of the UK’s major medical 
specialist practice management software systems. The increase in volume of Thelma-EU depends 
on when the large health insurers start accepting electronic claims. As LPBS continues to grow, we 
expect the health insurers to become more interested in receiving the claims from LPBS electronically.

Summary 

ICSGlobal completed a 2 for 5 rights issue in April that was designed to provide funds for the acquisition of a profitable US medical billing 
company, and to replace the working capital used to fund the acquisition of LPBS. The rights issue raised approximately A$3.4 million, leaving 
a shortfall of A$2.56 million from the amount required to complete the acquisition. Approximately 25% of the amount raised, or over $850,000, 
was a result of applications from the Board and management of the Company.

It is appropriate to thank the ICSGlobal staff team for their contribution, as they have again demonstrated outstanding ability, tenacity and 
persistence in executing the Company’s strategy during the year.

In summary, the global credit crisis that meant we were unable to fund our first US acquisition in January caused us to lose significant 
momentum towards becoming cashflow positive during fiscal 2008. However, we’ve recovered strongly since then, with excellent management 
teams in place and building momentum in each of our markets, and we are in a strong cash position. The exact timing of becoming profitable 
will depend upon the rate of organic growth and the size and timing of acquisitions.

We are very excited about the year ahead.

   Ross Bunyon      Tim Murray

   Chairman       Managing Director

Year In Review

The London 
Patient Billing 
Service grew 
strongly and 
has new 
doctors 
queued to join
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Thelma Electronic Banking Efficiencies For Health Systems Globally

Following are some questions and answers about our dual edged global medical banking strategy which should provide you with a deeper 
understanding of the business in which you are a shareholder.

About medical banking and Thelma 

“medical banking” is about blending 
healthcare administration processes 
with banking-type infrastructure to 
maximise efficiency and minimise costs 
in providing and paying for healthcare.

The medical banking process begins 
the moment a patient contacts a 
doctor seeking help, and ends when 
that encounter or episode of care is 
complete, and all monies have been 
paid, received and accounted for. This 
process is also often referred to as the 
“revenue cycle”.

Thelma (Transactional Health Exchange 
Linking Multiple Applications) was 
designed as a flexible, configurable 
transaction “clearinghouse”, using the 
Internet to collect and clear medical 
bills electronically. This enables medical 
practices and hospitals to avoid the  
stress, time and cost of filling in forms 
and trying to work out who owes what 
to whom via phone, fax and post.

What types of transactions are involved in medical banking? 

There are about a dozen different transaction types that make up the end-to-end medical banking process. They vary slightly in each health 
system, but fundamentally they aim to achieve the same outcome: to put healthcare providers and payers in control of their revenue cycle. The 
key medical banking transactions in the US healthcare system, as defined by HIPAA (Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act) are 
shown in the table below.

HIPAA Identifier Live on THELMA1 Transaction Description

270 / 271 Yes Eligibility / Benefit Inquiry & Response, to determine if a patient has health insurance, 
whether the patient has to make a co-payment, etc.

997 / 864 Yes Functional Acknowledgment – confirming the transaction was successful or not

837 (I, P & D) Yes Claim or Bill from a healthcare provider (doctor, hospital, dentist, lab, etc)

835 Yes Claim Payment Remittance Advice, often called Explanation of Benefit (EOB)

276 / 277 Yes Claim Status Inquiry (Request) and Notification (Response)

275 Additional Information to Support a Claim or Encounter

278 Review Information (Request / Response)

834 Enrolment and Maintenance

820 Payroll Deducted & Premium Payment
1 As at 30 September 2008
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Thelma Electronic Banking Efficiencies For Health Systems Globally

What is a transaction clearinghouse? 

A “transaction clearinghouse” could be likened to an electronic post office, routing electronic transactions between senders and receivers. An 
everyday example is drawing cash out of an ATM that belongs to a bank other than your own. The transactions need to be “routed” from the 
other bank to your bank, and back again. This is what a clearinghouse does.

Drawing cash out of an ATM is also a good example because the various transactions involved can be likened to those in eHealth:

Step 1: check with your bank or credit card to make sure sufficient cleared funds are available (eHealth = “eligibility check”)•	

Step 2: deduct the requested amount from your account (eHealth = “claim”)•	

Step 3: write a receipt into your account for the deduction •	
            (eHealth = “remittance advice” or “EOB” (explanation of benefit))

Transaction clearinghouses can be very basic or “dumb” in that they don’t do anything to the transaction other than simply pass it to the 
addressee. 

Thelma however is highly “intelligent”, as it can be configured or “taught” by a series of rules engines to perform whatever functions are 
necessary in order to move a range of complex and differing transactions between large numbers of senders and receivers, each with different 
technology platforms.

Thelma is an “any-to-any” transaction exchange or “clearinghouse” that allows 
participants in any health system to interchange any type of financial or clinical 

transaction electronically over the Internet.
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Why is Thelma called an “any-to-any” clearinghouse? 

Thelma’s “any-to-any” capability means that it can be configured or “taught” to send and receive any type of electronic transaction, in any data 
format, between any senders and receivers. 

The table below summarises the key functionality within Thelma that enables “any-to-any” transacting.

Thelma Function Description

Switching and Routing Intelligent routing and tracking of transactions between senders and receivers.

Translation Converting transactions to different formats if the sender’s format doesn’t match the receiver’s. There are 
dozens of different transaction formats and standards in healthcare, and hundreds of variations of these.

Code mapping Converting data values as requested by senders and receivers allowing data to be loaded into their 
systems automatically eg convert M to Male.

Batching / Unbatching

Some senders prefer to send batches of transactions rather than one at a time. Thelma has to unbundle 
batches to perform any tasks on the transactions, then re-bundle for on sending. If a batch contains 
transactions for multiple recipients, it has to be split into a batch for each recipient which is then tracked 
and managed individually.

Validation / Analysis Check the data in each field is valid and perform any analysis or tests on the data, as requested by the 
receivers, to validate that the transaction is “valid”.

Reconciliation Reconciling what is sent against what is received. eg to check that payments equals claims.

Extraction / Posting Thelma has sophisticated extraction and posting tools to get data out of or put information back into 
customer’s business systems. These tools make customer connections fast and simple.

Electronic Audit Trails Retention of transactions in mailboxes to allow searching, queries, viewing and archiving.

Security Industry-best practice to ensure Security, Privacy, Data Integrity and User Access Authorisation. Thelma 
can cater for all data security standards.

Workflow Thelma can be “taught” how and when to combine any of the above tasks to replicate each customer’s 
existing business processes.

Thelma Electronic Banking Efficiencies For Health Systems Globally
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Where are the opportunities for Thelma in the US? 

The opportunity for Thelma in the US arises from the fact that there are numerous established eHealth organisations, many of whom specialise 
in only some of the different electronic transaction types that are required for full “medical banking”. Thelma-US acts as a hub or “interchange” 
to vertically integrate this myriad of transaction streams into a complete national electronic “medical banking network”, as shown in the 
diagram below:

This puts Thelma-US in a unique position of being able to give US healthcare providers and payers cost effective access to the full suite of 
medical banking transactions which puts them in control of their revenue cycle. Thelma-US receives a fee for each transaction it interchanges 
between the various parties.

About two thirds of healthcare providers in the US are SMEs (small and medium enterprises). This market is underserviced by the major 
clearinghouses as, for a range of reasons, it has not been viable for them to target the SME market. Thelma’s target market for medical banking 
services is approximately 3,500 billing companies who act for providers, and hundreds of clearinghouses and software vendors that submit 
transactions on behalf of providers.

What does a medical billing company do? 

Medical billing companies collect money on behalf of healthcare providers. Understanding and being able to navigate through the maze of 
medical terminology, diagnostic codes, rules, regulations, contracts and rebate schemes, which are constantly changing, is a highly specialised 
and time consuming process. Rather than a doctor having to learn and keep abreast of the science of getting paid what they are owed, a billing 
company will take care of this for them, allowing them to maximise their time attending to patients. Doctors that use billing companies report 
that they receive up to 25% more income compared to doing their own billing, through the elimination of bad debts and maximisation of what 
they are rightfully owed under the various contracts they have with healthcare payers.

What is meant by ICSGlobal’s “dual edged medical banking strategy”? 

The attraction of Thelma to medical billing companies is that Thelma can provide better, more cost effective services than their existing 
clearinghouse, or help them convert any manual (phone, fax, post) work processes they are still using into electronic transactions. This 
generates substantial savings – 5% to 15% of overall costs – which flows through to improved profitability for the billing companies.

So the “dual edged medical banking strategy” is ICSGlobal’s way of capturing the compound benefits that Thelma creates: acquiring 
established, profitable medical billing companies and vertically integrating them with Thelma gives us the existing profit stream, plus the 
Thelma transaction fees, plus we bank the internal operational cost savings.
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What is Clinical Information, and are there any opportunities for Thelma in the US? 

Whereas “medical banking” deals with the electronic movement of financial and administrative information, “clinical information” relates to 
what actually happened during the episode of care, and includes things like the patient’s diagnosis, test results (pathology, radiology, etc), 
treatment and/or drugs administered, etc. “Electronic Medical Records” are just storage of clinical information in such a way that it can be 
accessed electronically as required eg to check if a drug being prescribed doesn’t clash with drugs previously prescribed.

We believe the major transactional growth area for Thelma in the US will be clinical information. The US federal government has mandated 
that, at some point in the future, all US healthcare providers must make use of electronic medical records or else lose part of their payment 
from the government. In response, State-based Health Information Exchanges (HIEs) have started to form as repositories of clinical information. 
Existing US clearinghouses, built for financial transactions, face major “retooling” if they are to participate in this national clinical information 
initiative. Thelma can enable them to participate with minimal or no re-tooling. Our plan is to license Thelma to HIEs as routing “middleware”, 
deploying Thelma’s powerful any-to-any technology to electronically send and retrieve clinical information between HIEs and the medical 
banking network, as shown in the diagram below.

How do customers connect to the Thelma service? 

Provided customers have a computer with a connection to the Internet, they don’t have to buy any hardware or software.  How each customer 
connects depends on which transaction they are using. For example, for eligibility checking, all they generally need to do is go through a web 
browser like Internet Explorer, Safari, FireFox or Chrome.  For other, more data intensive transactions such as Electric Hospital Claims, Thelma 
uses configurable adapter modules that are used to accept input and generate output. These modules can, for example, be used to accept any 
format of data files, extract files from paitient management systems or legacy systems, read Web forms based input, generate reports and 
output data in various formats. These modules are configured into the individual customer’s workflow as required.

Thelma acts as “middleware” for routing clinical information between Health Information 
Exchanges and the medical banking network
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Do customers go live as soon as they sign up? 

Some can and do. It depends on things like the types of transactions they want to do, the state of their IT systems, and so on. Eligibility 
checking can go live immediately, as users simply require an Internet web browser, a Username and Password. Electronic claiming is more 
involved. ICSGlobal’s implementation team sits down with each new claims customer and examines the business, technical and cultural issues 
that the customer needs to address before going live. For example whether the contract between the hospital and the health insurer is set 
up for electronic trading;  whether the hospital or health insurer has the basic IT infrastructure necessary for electronic claims;  how old the 
customer’s business software systems are. ICSGlobal has come up with an innovative range of implementation solutions that allows customers 
to go live as soon as possible and derive benefits from the outset that they can improve upon over time to gain even further benefits.

How much work is involved when another country wants to use Thelma? 

There’s surprisingly little difference between implementing Thelma in Australia and implementing it in another country. Health systems 
the world over are virtually identical in that they consist of patients, doctors and hospitals. The only real difference that affects the Thelma 
business model in a particular country is how the healthcare services are paid for - either by the government, by private health insurers, by 
the patients, or various combinations of the three. So the process for configuring Thelma to connect all the participants in the health system 
of another country is virtually the same as connecting them in Australia. All that may vary is the content and format of the transactions, which 
again Thelma can be configured to handle.

What is Thelma’s Business Model? 

A good analogy for Thelma’s business model is the telephone, where users pay a nominal rental fee then a transaction fee each time they use 
the service. As with local and long distance calls in the telephone model, there’s a range of Thelma transaction fees depending on the volume 
and complexity of the transaction. The transaction fees are calculated to be just a fraction of what the manual processes currently cost. After 
six years of operation, we have testimonials from Thelma customers that the Return on Investment (ROI) on Thelma transaction fees ranges 
from 300% to as high as 1000%.

In terms of volume, in Australia there is about 500 million claims, covering private and public health. In a health system as large as the US, the 
volume of medical banking transactions has been estimated as high as 50 billion transactions.

Will there be a big capital expenditure to set Thelma up in the US? 

The answer is no. Infrastructure wise, the Thelma-US system is already hosted in Dallas, Texas with the disaster recovery data centre in 
Herndon, Virginia. Application wise, configuring Thelma for the US medical banking transactions is being done in our Sydney office by existing 
staff.

Thelma Electronic Banking Efficiencies For Health Systems Globally
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Corporate Governance Statement

Commitment to Good Corporate Governance 

Corporate governance is a matter of high importance in the Company and is undertaken with due regard to all of the Company ’s stakeholders 
and its role in the community. ICSGlobal has elected to adopt early the revised second edition of the Corporate Governance Principals and 
Recommendations and report on its compliance with these guidelines for the 2008 financial year.

The key corporate governance practices are summarised below in this corporate governance statement.  A full copy of ICSGlobal’s Corporate 
Governance Policies and Procedures is available on its web site at www.icsglobal.com.au. This detailed policy has been revised to reflect the 
changes introduced with the revised second edition of the Corporate Governance Principals and Recommendations.

Board of Directors 

The directors have responsibility for the overall corporate governance of ICSGlobal and for protecting the rights and interests of the 
shareholders.  The Board is comprised of a majority of independent non executive directors.  Details of the directors are set out in the Directors’ 
Report.

Primary responsibilities of the Board include:

The establishment of long term goals and strategic plans to achieve those goals•	

The review and adoption of annual budgets for the financial performance of the company and monitoring of the results•	

The approval of the annual and half yearly report•	

Ensuring ICSGlobal has implemented adequate systems of internal controls together with appropriate monitoring of compliance activities•	

The Board meets at least on a monthly basis.  All available information in connection with items to be discussed at a meeting of the board is 
provided to each director before the meeting.

During the year the Nomination Committee met and reviewed the performance of the Board, its committees and the individual Directors. This 
review process included:

The completion of a confidential performance questionnaire by each Director and the Chief Financial Officer•	

The Chairman meeting with each Director and the Chief Financial Officer to discuss their performance and their views on the performance •	
of the Board and of its committees

Discussion by the Nomination Committee of the performance of the Board and of its committees•	

Risk Management 

The Board is committed to the identification and quantification of risk.  Directors receive regular reports on areas where significant business risk 
or exposure concentrations may exist and on the management of those risks. The Board committee structures form an important part of the risk 
management process.

Audit Committee 

At the date of this report, ICSGlobal had an Audit Committee consisting of the following independent non-executive directors:

Geoffrey Lambert (Chairman of the Audit Committee) •	

Ross Bunyon •	

The audit committee provides a forum for the effective communication between the board and external auditors.  The audit committee reviews:

The annual financial report prior to their approval by the board•	

The effectiveness of management information systems and systems of internal control•	

The appointment of external auditors•	

The efficiency and effectiveness of the external audit function•	
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Corporate Governance Statement

Nomination Committee 

At the date of this report ICSGlobal had a Nomination Committee consisting of the following directors, the majority of whom are independent 
non executive directors:

Ross Bunyon (Chairman of the Nomination Committee) •	

Timothy Murray•	

Geoffrey Lambert•	

Responsibilities of the Nomination Committee include:

Assessment of the size, competencies and performance of the board and the individual directors.•	

Determination of the appropriate remuneration levels for each director.•	

Remuneration Committee 

At the date of this report ICSGlobal had a remuneration committee consisting of the following directors:

Ross Bunyon•	

Timothy Murray•	

The remuneration committee reviews the performance of ICSGlobal’s senior management. 

The remuneration committee reviews and provides recommendations to the board, with respect to the scale and structure of the remuneration 
for all employees, including decisions about the ICSGlobal Employee Option Plan.

Remuneration policies are discussed in more detail in the remuneration report in the Directors’ Report.

Continuous Disclosure 

The Company Secretary is the nominated ASX Communication Officer and is responsible for:

Ensuring that the Company complies with its continuous disclosure requirements•	

Overseeing and coordinating disclosure of information to the stock exchange, analysts, brokers, shareholders, the media and the public•	

Ensuring that all ASX releases are posted on the Company’s website•	

The Company’s compliance with its continuous disclosure obligations is reviewed at each meeting of the board of directors.

Trading Policy 

The Company’s policy regarding directors and employees trading in its securities is set by the board of directors.  The policy restricts directors 
and employees from acting on material information until it has been released to the market.

External Auditor 

The external auditor is required to attend all annual general meetings of the Company.  The chairman allows a reasonable opportunity for 
shareholders to ask the auditor questions relevant to the conduct of the audit and the preparation and content of the audit report.

PKF were appointed as the auditor for the Company in June 1999.  Mr Grant Saxon, a partner at PKF, has been the partner responsible for 
ICSGlobal for the 2007 and 2008 financial years. 
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Corporate Governance Statement

Accounting Policies and Practices 

The Company has continued its practice of consistently applying prudent and conservative accounting policies and practices in accordance with 
the applicable accounting standards and legislation.

ASX Corporate Governance Council: 
Corporate Governance Principals and Recommendations – Second Edition 

ICSGlobal has elected to adopt early the revised second edition of the Corporate Governance Principals and Recommendations – Second Edition 
and report on its compliance with these guidelines for the 2008 financial year.

Principle 1 Lay Solid Foundations For Management And Oversight

ICSGlobal complies with this recommendation

Principle 2 Structure the Board to Add Value

ICSGlobal complies with this recommendation

Principle 3 Promote Ethical and Responsible Decision Making

ICSGlobal complies with this recommendation

Principle 4 Safeguard the Integrity in Financial Reporting

ICSGlobal complies with this recommendation, except for the requirement to have at least 3 non executive 
director members of the Audit Committee.  ICSGlobal is a small company and only has two non executive 
directors.  ICSGlobal’s Audit Committee is comprised of these two independent non executive directors. 

Principle 5 Make Timely and Balanced Disclosure 

ICSGlobal complies with this recommendation

Principle 6 Respect the Rights of Shareholders

ICSGlobal complies with this recommendation

Principle 7 Recognise and Manage Risk

ICSGlobal complies with this recommendation

Principle 8 Remunerate Fairly and Responsibly

ICSGlobal complies with this recommendation except for the following practice, which was in place prior to the 
introduction of the Corporate Governance Principals and Recommendations:

Mr Lambert has previously accrued retirement benefits.  In July 2003, the Directors made a decision to •	
discontinue the non executive directors retirement benefits scheme.  Accordingly, no benefits have been 
accrued since 30 June 2003. Amounts accrued under the scheme prior to 30 June 2003 will be payable to 
Mr Lambert upon his retirement.
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Shareholder Information

As at 10 September 2008 
 

TWENTY LARGEST HOLDERS OF QUOTED EQUITY SECURITIES* 
Ordinary Shares %

Timothy J Murray † 15,394,487 10.9%

Dixson Trust Pty Limited † 12,893,018 9.2%

Randell Management Services Pty Limited † 8,853,623 6.3%

Glowgood Pty Limited 6,200,667 4.4%

HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited - A/C 2 5,541,551 3.9%

Dr Diana M Bell 5,397,382 3.8%

Denis J Reynolds 4,500,000 3.2%

Mr Lewis Alexander Draper & Mrs Janet Anne Draper 3,054,000 2.2%

Andover Nominees Pty Limited 2,583,178 1.8%

Mr Graham Canning-Ure & Mrs Cosette Alexis Canning-Ure 2,371,778 1.7%

Mr Philip John Price & Mrs Gail Lorraine Price 2,000,000 1.4%

Brindle Holdings Pty Limited 1,943,312 1.4%

Hanibal Pty Limited 1,700,000 1.2%

Glowgood Pty Limited <Superannuation Fund A/c> 1,538,846 1.1%

Maminda Pty Limited 1,500,000 1.1%

Mr Norman Colburn Mayne 1,500,000 1.1%

Mrs Rachel Jane Patton 1,250,000 0.9%

Trans Pacific Investments Pty Limited 1,112,801 0.8%

Dr Julian Parmegiani 1,076,361 0.8%

Ms Charlotte Camilla Drover 1,002,001 0.7%

Total 81,413,005 57.8%

DISTRIBUTION OF HOLDERS OF EQUITY SECURITIES*  
Ordinary Shares Ordinary Shares Options

1 - 1,000 95 -

1,001 - 5,000 302 -

5,001 - 10,000 200 -

10,001 - 100,000 493 1

100,001 and over 158 20

1,248 21

Holdings less than a marketable parcel 214

Total Securities Issued  140,739,720  11,100,000 

† Substantial shareholders
* As shown on register, beneficial holdings may differ



 2008 Year in Review ICSGlobal Annual Report 2008 13

Your directors’ present their report on ICSGlobal Limited and its Controlled Entities (collectively “the Group”) for the financial year 
ended 30 June 2008.

Directors 

The names of the directors in office at any time from the start of the 2008 financial year to the date of this report are:

Timothy J. Murray•	

Ross M. Bunyon •	

Geoffrey E. Lambert•	

Principal Activities  

The principal activities of the Group during the financial year were the provision of services to the health industry and the ownership and 
operation of Thelma, the Transactional Health Exchange Linking Multiple Applications. 

During the year, the Group commenced the implementation of its strategy to acquire profitable billing companies. The acquisition of London 
Patient Billing Service in the United Kingdom was completed on 1 December 2007. The London Patient Billing Service provides billing and other 
clerical services to specialist surgeons in England.

Results of Operations 

The consolidated loss for the financial year, after income tax, amounted to $1,786,600 (2007: $2,574,724). 

Review of Operations  

The Company is continuing with its dual-edged global medical banking growth strategy that consists of the deployment of the Thelma 
healthcare transaction clearinghouse; the acquisition of established, profitable medical billing companies; and the vertical integration of the 
two, in our three key markets of Australia, UK and US.

Overall, ICSGlobal finished the year in the best shape ever in terms of growth and new business beachheads in the US and UK markets; the 
management teams we have in place in each of our key markets; and cash on hand to execute our global strategy.

Progress in Australia 
During the year, Australian transaction volumes grew by approximately 62%. There is still substantial volume increase to come from our existing 
customer base as they gradually migrate from manual transactions (phone, fax and post) to electronic transactions via Thelma.

A steady stream of new customers continued to sign up during the year, made up of health funds, hospitals, day surgeries, medical practices, 
diagnostic groups and medical software vendors.

Progress in the US
In March, Mr BP Fulmer was appointed President and Chief Executive Officer of Thelma-US, Inc.

In April Thelma-US reached agreement with North Carolina-based MedData for the interchange of electronic healthcare transactions.

In May Thelma-US reached agreement with Revenue Management Solutions, L.L.C. (‘RMS’) for the interchange of electronic revenue cycle 
management transactions between banks, healthcare providers and healthcare payers across the US.

In June Thelma-US signed a Bilateral Gateway Agreement with The SSI Group Inc. (‘SSI’) for the interchange of electronic claiming transactions. 
SSI is one of the largest gateways for electronic claims in the US, processing more than 200 million transactions annually, with a value in 
excess of US$450 billion.

Once nationwide connectivity is achieved through these strategic partnerships, Thelma-US plans to build its US transaction business through a 
combination of organic growth and acquisitions.

In August, Thelma-US completed final testing and is now live with commercial transactions. The Thelma-US system is hosted in Dallas, Texas 
with the DR (Disaster Recovery) data centre in Herndon, Virginia.
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In June Ms Patti Velasco was appointed Executive Vice President, Healthcare Transaction Services of Thelma-US. Ms Velasco previously 
worked with Mr Fulmer for six years at ACS EDI Gateway, Inc., a US Fortune 500 eHealth company.

We expect the US will become our major market during the coming financial year.

Progress in the UK
ICSGlobal took possession of its first acquisition, The London Patient Billing Service (LPBS), on 1 December 2007.

LPBS staff numbers and new customers grew rapidly which required leasing and setting up additional office and upgrading office IT 
infrastructure.

In June Mr Garry Chapman was appointed General Manager of LPBS. Mr Chapman quickly identified new business systems and processes 
that are expected to more than double the billing productivity of staff. He is fast-tracking the introduction of these changes and restructuring 
measures, which include streamlining the recruitment and training programs, and internal knowledge sharing.

The appointment of Mr Chapman and the re-engineering of LPBS processes marks an important junction in the growth of LPBS. Dr Diana 
Bell, the founder of LPBS, has been progressively stepping back from operations to focus fully on sales and marketing in her role as Executive 
Director, Marketing for LPBS. Dr Bell has been busy developing a number of major new business opportunities for LPBS, and has new doctors 
queued to join LPBS.

On the UK health transaction side, Thelma-EU is live between private health insurer Exeter Friendly Society and MidexPro, one of the UK’s 
major medical specialist practice management software systems. The increase in volumes of Thelma-EU depends on when the large health 
insurers agree to accept and pay for electronic claims from Thelma.  As LPBS grows, we expect the health insurers to become more interested 
in receiving the claims from LPBS electronically. 

Dividends Paid And Recommended 

No dividends have been paid or declared from the start of the year to the date of this report.  The directors do not recommend the payment of a 
final dividend.

Significant Changes In State Of Affairs 

No significant changes in the Group’s state of affairs occurred during the financial year other than the progress outlined in the Review of 
Operations and the rights issue conducted by the Group during the 2008 financial year.

Matters Subsequent To The End Of The Financial Year 

Since 30 June 2008 and the date of this report, the following events have occurred:

The Group announced the transaction volumes for the quarter ended 30 June 2008•	

The Group announced that Thelma-US has appointed a new Vice President•	

The Group announced that nib health funds re-signed with Thelma and commenced implementing hospital claims•	

The Group announced that Thelma-US signed a partnering agreement with ClaimRemedi. •	

The Group announced that Thelma Pty Ltd, a wholly owned subsidiary of ICSGlobal limited, filed an application in the Federal Court •	
of Australia for relief from alleged anti-competitive conduct by Medicare Australia. The Group has tried to engage in a dialogue with 
Medicare Australia to settle the claim, but Medicare Australia has refused to have any serious dialogue. Thelma Pty Ltd are alleging that 
Medicare Australia are acting anti-competitively, with the purpose or effect of eliminating or substantially damaging Thelma; and/or to 
deter or prevent Thelma from engaging in competitive conduct. The directors believe that the litigation, which the Group has been forced 
to initiate,will create a level playing field between Thelma and Medicare Australia.  At this early stage of the litigation, it is too early to 
quantify the likely cost and outcome of this litigation.

The Group announced that live commercial transactions had commenced through the Thelma service in the US.•	
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Likely Developments And Expected Results Of Operations 

Further information regarding likely developments in the operations of the Group in future financial years and the expected results of those 
operations is likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the Group.  Accordingly, this information has not been disclosed in this report. 

Environmental Regulation 

The Group’s operations are not regulated by any significant environmental regulation under a law of the Commonwealth or of a State or 
Territory.

Information On The Directors And Company Secretary 

The directors and company secretary in office at the date of this report are:

Ross M. Bunyon AM - Chairman and Non Executive Director
Ross holds a Bachelor of Commerce degree and was appointed as a director in January 2007 and as Chairman in June 2007.  Ross is Chairman 
of Eraring Energy and Turner & Townsend Pty Ltd and a director of Hunter Valley Training Company Pty Ltd.  Ross was previously chief executive 
officer of Pacific Power.  Ross is Chairman of the remuneration committee, Chairman of the nomination committee and a member of the audit 
committee.

Timothy J. Murray - Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer
Tim is the founder of ICSGlobal and has led the Group since its inception in 1990.  Tim is responsible for the overall management of ICSGlobal 
and for the development of the strategic direction of the business into the future.  Tim holds a Bachelor of Civil Engineering degree and has 
successfully applied construction project management principles into the IT industry. Tim is a director of ICSGlobal Limited’s wholly owned 
subsidiaries: Thelma-EU Limited and Thelma-US Inc.  Tim is a member of the remuneration committee and a member of the nomination 
committee. 

Geoffrey E. Lambert - Non Executive Director 
Geoff was appointed a director in 1999. Geoff is currently chief executive of boutique investment house Byrne Lambert Woolf & Co.  Geoff holds 
a Master of Economics degree and is a Fellow of the Australian Institute of Company Directors and a member of the Financial Services Institute 
of Aust.  Geoff is currently a director of Stratatel Limited and Reward Minerals Limited. In the past three years Geoff has also been director of 
Wedgetail Mining Limited.  Geoff is the Chairman of the audit committee and a member of the nomination committee.

Thomas Walther - Company Secretary
Tom was appointed Company Secretary in 2000.  Tom holds a Bachelor of Economics Degree from in Accounting and Finance and is an associate 
member of the Australian Society of CPAs.  Tom was previously an accountant at Computer Power Group Limited.

Meeting Attendance Record of Each Director for the Financial Year 

Name

Board of Directors Audit Committee Nomination Committee Remuneration Committee

Number  
Eligible

to  Attend
Number
Attended

Number 
Eligible

to Attend
Number
Attended

Number 
Eligible

to Attend
Number 
Attended

Number 
Eligible

to Attend
Number
Attended

R. Bunyon 17 17 2 2 1* 1 1* 1

T. Murray 17 17 - - 1 1 1 1

G. Lambert 17 17 2* 2 1 1 - -

*Denotes non-executive Chairman of the respective committee
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Director Share and Option Holdings as at the Date of this Report 

Name Number of Ordinary Shares Options over Ordinary Shares

Tim Murray 15,394,487 1,000,000 – exercise price $0.60

Ross Bunyon 640,0001 Nil

Geoff Lambert 580,0012 Nil

¹ Shares held by an entity associated with the director
2 Shares held by two entities associated with the director

None of these holdings is financed via a margin loan.

Remuneration Report 

The remuneration report is set out under the following main headings:

A. Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration 

B. Details of remuneration

C. Service agreements 

D. Share based remuneration

E. Additional information 

The information provided under headings A – D includes remuneration disclosures that are required under Accounting Standard AASB 124 
“Related Party Disclosures”.  These disclosures have been transferred to the Directors’ Report from the financial report and have been audited.  
The disclosures in Section E are additional disclosures required by the Corporations Act 2001 and Corporations Regulations 2001, which have 
not been audited. 

A. Principles Used To Determine The Nature And Amount Of Remuneration (Audited) 

Non Executive Director Remuneration
The board’s policy is to remunerate non-executive directors at market rates for comparable companies and to reflect the time, commitment and 
responsibilities of the non-executive directors.  The remuneration committee reviews the remuneration of non-executive directors annually, 
based on market practice, duties and accountability. 

The maximum aggregate remuneration for all non-executive directors of $250,000 was approved by the shareholders at the annual general 
meeting held on 22 November 2002.  Fees for non-executive directors are not linked to the performance of the Group, however, to align non-
executive directors’ interests with shareholder interests, the non-executive directors are encouraged to hold shares in ICSGlobal. 

The level of non-executive director remuneration was last increased in November 2002.

Managing Director Remuneration
The objective of the board when determining the remuneration of the managing director, is to reinforce the short and long term goals of the 
Group. Consideration is given to normal commercial rates of remuneration for similar levels of responsibility. The board believes that the 
remuneration policy is appropriate and effective in its ability to attract and retain the best person to direct and manage the Group, as well as 
create goal congruence between directors, executives and shareholders.

The managing director’s remuneration has three components: base salary (which is based on factors such as qualifications, experience and 
performance), superannuation and long term incentives through options. The board of directors’ reviews the managing director’s remuneration 
each year by reference to the Group’s performance, the managing director’s performance and comparable information from industry sectors and 
other listed companies in similar industries. 

The level of managing director remuneration was last reviewed on 21 December 2007.
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Executives Remuneration
The objective of the Groups’ Remuneration Committee when determining the remuneration of each executive is to reinforce the short and 
long term goals of the Group. Consideration is given to normal commercial rates of remuneration for similar levels of responsibility. The board 
believes that the remuneration policy is appropriate and effective in its ability to attract and retain the best executives, to run and manage the 
Group, as well as create goal congruence between the executives and shareholders.

All executives receive a base salary (which is based on factors such as qualifications, experience and performance), superannuation and 
employee options.  The remuneration committee reviews executive packages at least once each year by reference to the Group’s performance, 
executive performance and comparable information from industry sectors and other listed companies in similar industries. 

Retirement Benefits
The directors and executives receive a superannuation guarantee contribution as required by law.  Some individuals have chosen to sacrifice 
part of their salary to increase their superannuation payments. 

In July 2003, the directors made a decision to discontinue an existing non-executive directors retirement benefits scheme.  Accordingly, no 
benefits have been accrued since 30 June 2003.  Amounts accrued under the scheme prior to 30 June 2003 will be paid to the respective non-
executive director upon retirement.

Short Term and Long Term Incentives
The performance of the board and employees is formally reviewed at least once per year.  The performance of employees is a key factor in the 
determination of remuneration increases. 

The Group generally does not pay bonuses.  In the 2007 and 2008 financial years, the Company did not make any performance related cash 
payments to employees or directors.

The Group has issued key staff with employee options which vest based on revenue and cash flow performance milestones. In the board’s 
opinion, these performance milestones are aligned with the objectives of the business and are important to Group’s financial results. 

Except for the managing director, all employees have been issued with employee options, which do not have performance criteria.  These 
employee options vest over a three year period to encourage staff retention.  Generally these options have been issued at an exercise price 
in excess of the share price at the date of grant.  The Group has also issued ordinary options to the managing director.  The ordinary options 
granted to the managing director have an exercise price of 60 cents and vested on 22 December 2005 and expire on 22 December 2009.

B. Details Of Remuneration (Audited) 

Details of the remuneration of the directors and the key management personnel (as defined in AASB 124 “Related Parties”) of ICSGlobal Limited 
and the ICSGlobal Limited Group are set out below. 

The key management personnel includes the directors on page 15 and the following executive officers (who are also the five highest paid 
executives of the entity who have the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group, directly or 
indirectly, during the financial year:

Tim Murray•	  – Chief Executive Officer and Managing Direct of the Group and director of Thelma-EU Limited & Thelma-US Inc.

Lindsay Martin•	  – Chief Financial Officer of the Group and director of Thelma-EU Limited & Thelma-US Inc.

Tom Walther •	 – Company Secretary 

Daniel Rigby •	 – Development Manager

Bachman P. Fulmer •	 (Commenced 1/3/2008) – President and CEO of Thelma-US Inc. and director of Thelma-US Inc.

The first four staff above, were also key management during the year ended 30 June 2007. All the key management are employed by ICSGlobal 
Limited except for B. Fulmer who is employed by Thelma-US Inc, a wholly owned subsidiary of ICSGlobal Limited.
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2008
Short Term Employee Benefits Post Employment Share Based 

Payments
Total

$
Cash Salary

$
Director’s Fees

$
Superannuation

$
Employee Options 

$

DIRECTORS
R. Bunyon - 98,160 - - 98,160

T. Murray 362,321 - 12,686 - 375,007

G. Lambert - 8,175 40,875 - 49,050

TOTAL 362,321 106,335 53,561 - 522,217

KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL
L. Martin 236,065 - 12,686 (27,309) 1 221,442

D. Rigby 137,848 - 12,123 (6,827) 1 143,144

T. Walther 89,653 - 36,000 (13,654) 1 111,999

B. Fulmer (started full time 1/3/2008) 62,640 - - - 62,640

TOTAL 526,206 - 60,809 (47,790) 1 539,225
1 Remuneration in form of options includes negative amounts related to the write back of amounts previously recognised as an expense. These 
options did not vest, as the Group was not cashflow positive for the quarter ended 30 June 2008.  These options have now lapsed.

2007
Short Term Employee Benefits Post Employment Share Based 

Payments
Total

$
Cash Salary

$
Director’s Fees

$
Superannuation

$
Employee Options 

$

DIRECTORS
R. Bunyon (appointed 30/1/2007) - 23,586 - - 23,586

T. Murray 338,814 - 12,686 - 351,500

G. Lambert - 22,500 26,550 - 49,050

D. Pritchard  (from 1/7/2006 – 8/6/2007)
- 82,502 81,902¹ - 164,404

TOTAL 338,814 128,588 121,138 - 588,540

KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL
L. Martin 216,064 - 12,686 - 228,750

D. Rigby 108,928 - 9,908 2,642 121,478

T. Walther 81,709 - 34,595 2,642 118,946

W. Larson (from 1/7/2006 -11/5/2007) 164,041 - 77,7782 (27,309)3 214,510

TOTAL 570,742 - 134,967 (22,025) 683,684
1 Includes $72,213 pay out of directors retirement benefit accrued prior to June 2003
2 Includes $42,389 of termination benefit
3 Remuneration in form of options includes negative amounts for options forfeited during the year
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C. Service Agreements (Audited) 

Employment conditions are formalised in contracts of employment.  Other than the managing director, all executive employment contracts have 
no fixed term and stipulate a one month resignation notice period.  The two non-executive directors are not subject to a notice period.

Mr Murray’s term of employment is ongoing until terminated by either party.  The contract may be terminated at any time by Mr Murray giving 
the Company six months notice or by the Company giving Mr Murray six months notice or payment of cash in lieu of notice.

D. Share Based Remuneration (Audited) 

The object of the ICSGlobal Employee Option Plan is to provide employees of ICSGlobal with the opportunity to acquire an ownership interest 
in ICSGlobal by way of options to acquire unissued ordinary shares in ICSGlobal.  The ICSGlobal Employee Option Plan is administered by the 
board of directors in accordance with the rules of the ICSGlobal Employee Option Plan. 

The rules of the ICSGlobal Employee Option Plan are described in detail in Note 22 of the Financial Statements.

The terms and conditions of each grant of employee options affecting executive remuneration in the previous, this or future reporting periods is 
as follows:

Grant Date Expiry Date Exercise Price Value Per Option At 
Grant Date Number of Options Vesting Date

7 July 2003 6 July 2008 $0.10 $0.27 175,000 Cash flow milestone

23 December 2004 24 December 2009 $0.50 $0.08 200,000
33% 23 Dec 2005, 
33% 23 Dec 2006, 
33% 23 Dec 2007

20 December 2005 21 December 2010 $0.50 $0.27 400,000
33% 20 Dec 2006, 
33% 20 Dec 2007, 
33% 20 Dec 2008

21 December 2007 22 December 2012 $0.32 Nil 2,225,000
33% 21 Dec 2008, 
33% 21 Dec 2009, 
33% 21 Dec 2010

3 March 2008 4 March 2013 $0.30 Nil 1,000,000 Business milestones

3 March 2008 4 March 2013 $0.30 Nil 1,000,000
33% 3 Mar 2009, 
33% 3 Mar 2010, 
33% 3 Mar 2011

On 18 January 2005, the directors approved an allocation to Mr Murray of 1,000,000 options. These are ordinary options, not employee 
options under the ICSGlobal Employee Option Plan, and are therefore not included in the schedule above. The options granted to Mr Murray 
have an exercise price of 60 cents.  The options vested on 22 December 2005 and expire on 22 December 2009.  The grant of these options 
was approved by shareholders at the Company’s Annual General Meeting held on 17 November 2005.  Using the Black Scholes valuation 
methodology, these options had a nil valuation.

Options Granted to Directors and Key Management Personnel
Details of employee options over ordinary shares in the company provided as remuneration of each director and key management personnel are 
as follows.
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The following employee options were granted to key management personnel in the 2008 and 2007 financial years:

Number Of Options Granted During The Year Number Of Options Vested During The Year

2008 2007 2008 2007

KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL
L. Martin 1,150,000 - 83,333 83,333

D. Rigby 800,000 - 58,333 91,666

T. Walther 275,000 - 58,333 91,666

B. Fulmer 2,000,000 - - -

TOTAL 4,225,000 - 199,999 266,665

No options were granted to key management personnel during the 2007 financial year.

Options Granted to L. Martin, D. Rigby and T. Walther on 21 December 2007
The employee options granted in the 2008 financial year to L. Martin, D. Rigby and T. Walther have an exercise price of $0.32.  The options 
expire on 21 December 2012 or upon the executive leaving the Company, whichever is earlier. The options vest and are exercisable as follows:

On 21 December 2008, one third of the options granted •	

On 21 December 2009, a further one third of the options granted•	

On 21 December 2010, the remaining one third of the options granted. •	

The remuneration value of the employee options granted to L. Martin, D. Rigby and T. Walther was nil.  The value was determined using the 
Black Scholes methodology using a risk free interest rate of 6.75%, nil expected dividends, vesting assumptions outlined above and in the notes 
to the financial statements and a volatility factor of 0.322.

Options Granted to B. Fulmer on 3 March 2008
The employee options granted in the 2008 financial year to B. Fulmer have an exercise price of $0.30.  The options expire on 4 March 2013 or 
upon the executive leaving the Company, whichever is earlier. 

1,000,000 options vest and are exercisable as follows:

On 3 March 2009, one third of the options granted •	

On 3 March 2010, a further one third of the options granted•	

On 3 March 2011, the remaining one third of the options granted.  •	

In addition, B.Fulmer may be entitled to up to a further 1,000,000 options based on the achievement of the following performance milestones: 

The first quarter where Thelma transaction fees, licence fees or other non-billing company revenues in the US exceeds US$1,000,000:  •	
500,000 options with an exercise price of 30 cents will vest and be exercisable at 1/3 per annum as above

The first quarter where total revenues for Thelma-US exceeds US$6,000,000:  500,000 options with an exercise price of 30 cents will vest •	
and be exercisable at 1/3 per annum as above

All options expire the earlier of five years from the date of grant or one year after you leaving the company, provided that no option will be 
capable of exercise beyond the five year life of the option.

The remuneration value of the employee options granted to B Fulmer is nil.  This nil value was determined using the Black Scholes methodology 
using a risk free interest rate of 7.25%, nil expected dividends, vesting assumptions outlined above and in the notes to the financial statements 
and a volatility factor of 0.65 based on the 12 month historical standard deviation statistics published in March 2008 by the Australian Graduate 
School of Management. 

Using the Black Scholes methodology, all the options granted during the 2008 financial year had a nil valuation.

Shares Provided On Exercise of Employee Options
No directors or key management exercised options during the 2008 or 2007 financial years. 
There were no loans to directors or key management personnel during the financial year.
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E. Additional Information (Unaudited) 

Employee Options of Directors and Key Management Personnel
The following table shows the proportion of remuneration consisting of employee options and provides additional details about employee 
options that were granted, exercised or lapsed during the 2008 financial year:

2008

A B C D E
Proportion of 
Remuneration 
Consisting of 

Employee Options

Options Granted 
in 2008:  Value at 

Grant Date

Options Exercised 
in 2008:  Value at 

Exercise Date

Options that 
Lapsed in 2008: 
Value at Lapse 

Date

Total of Columns 
B to D

% $ $ $ $

DIRECTORS
R. Bunyon 0.0 % - - - -

T. Murray 0.0 % - - - -

G. Lambert 0.0 % - - - -

KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL
L. Martin (12.3%) - - - -

D. Rigby (4.8%) - - - -

T. Walther (12.2%) - - - -

B. Fulmer 0.0 % - - - -

The following table shows the proportion of remuneration consisting of employee options and provides additional details about employee 
options that were granted, exercised or lapsed during the 2007 financial year:

2007

A B C D E
Proportion of 
Remuneration 
Consisting of 

Employee Options

Options Granted 
in 2007:  Value at 

Grant Date

Options Exercised 
in 2007:  Value at 

Exercise Date

Options that 
Lapsed in 2007: 
Value at Lapse 

Date

Total of Columns 
B to D

% $ $ $ $

DIRECTORS

R. Bunyon 0.0 % - - - -

D. Pritchard 0.0 % - - - -

T. Murray 0.0 % - - - -

G. Lambert 0.0 % - - - -

KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL

L. Martin 0.0 % - - - -

D. Rigby 2.2 % - - - -

T. Walther 2.2 % - - - -

W. Larson (12.7 %) - - - -

A = The percentage of the value of remuneration consisting of options, based on the value of options expensed during the current year. 
B = The value at grant date calculated in accordance with AASB 2 Share-based Payment of options granted during the year as part of remuneration. 
C = The value at exercise date of options that were granted as part of remuneration and were exercised during the year. 
D = The value at lapse date of options that were granted as part of remuneration and that lapsed during the year.

Details of options granted to the directors and key management personnel of the Group can be found in Section D of the Remuneration Report.  
No options have been granted to the directors and key management personnel of the Group since the end of the year.
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Shares Under Option
Unissued ordinary shares of ICSGlobal Limited under option at the date of this report are as follows:

Date Options Granted Expiry Date Issue Price Of Shares Number Under Option

01/03/2008 02/03/2013 $0.30 2,000,000

21/12/2007 22/12/2012 $0.32 3,900,000

15/07/2008 16/07/2013 $0.33 750,000

Dates between 01/07/2008
& 21/07/2008

Dates between 02/07/2013
     & 22/07/2013 $0.35 1,575,000

19/02/2008 20/02/2013 $0.38 250,000

Dates between 20/12/2004
& 06/08/2007

Dates between 21/12/2009     
& 07/08/2012 $0.50 1,625,000

TOTAL 10,100,000

  

No option holder has any right under the options to participate in any other share issue of the Company or any other entity.

Shares Issued as a Result of the Exercise of Options
No ordinary shares of ICSGlobal Limited were issued during the year ended 30 June 2008 as a result of the exercise of options granted under 
the ICSGlobal Employee Option Plan.
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Auditor Independence 

It is the Group’s policy to employ PKF for assignments additional to their annual audit duties, when PKF’s expertise and experience with the 
Group are important.  These assignments are principally tax assignments (refer to table below). 

The directors are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services as set out below, did not compromise the auditors independence 
requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 for the following reasons:

All non audit services have been reviewed by the audit committee to ensure they do not impact on the impartiality and objectivity of the •	
auditor

None of the services undermine the general principals relating to auditor independence as set out in Professional standard F1 including •	
reviewing or auditing the auditors own work, acting in a management or decision making capacity for the Group, acting as advocate for 
the Group, or jointly sharing economic risks or rewards.

During the year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by the auditor of the parent entity, its related practices and non 
audit related firms.

PKF East Coast Practice

Consolidated ICSGlobal Limited

2008 2007 2008 2007

$ $ $ $

AUDIT SERVICES
Audit and review of financial reports and other audit work under the 
Corporations Act 2001

34,610 27,500 34,610 27,500

Total Remuneration for audit services 34,610 27,500 34,610 27,500

Tax returns – assistance 7,130 6,460 7,130 6,460

Tax advice 875 2,900 875 2,900

Export market development grant - assistance 7,000 4,145 7,000 4,145

R & D tax concession offset claim - assistance 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000

OTHER SERVICES

Rights issue advice - 3,300 - 3,300

Workers Compensation Audit 850 - 850 -

Total Remuneration for non-audit services 40,855 41,805 40,855 41,805
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Declaration of Independence from the Auditor
A copy of the auditors independence declaration as required under sections 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set out on page 25.

Indemnifying Officers And Auditors 

During the 2008 financial year, the Group paid a premium in respect of a contract insuring the directors of the Group, the company secretary and 
all executive officers of the Group and of any controlled entities against a liability incurred as such a director, secretary or executive officer to 
the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001.  The contract of insurance prohibits disclosure of the nature of the liability and the amount 
of the premium.

The Group has not otherwise, during or since the financial year, indemnified or agreed to indemnify an officer or auditor of the Group or of any 
controlled entity against a liability incurred as such an officer or auditor.

Proceedings On Behalf Of Company 

No proceeding have been brought or intervened in on behalf of the company with leave of the Court under Section 237 of the Corporations Act 
2001.  The Group was not a party to any such proceedings during the year.
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the board of directors:

Ross Bunyon Timothy Murray

Chairman Managing Director & Chief Executive Officer

Sydney

Dated this 28th day of August 2008

Directors’ Report
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Tel: 61 2 9251 4100  |  Fax: 61 2 9240 9821  |  www.pkf.com.au
PKF  |  ABN 83 236 985 726
Level 10, 1 Margaret Street  |  Sydney  |  New South Wales 2000  |  Australia
DX 10173  |  Sydney Stock Exchange  |  New South Wales

PKF East Coast Practice is a member of PKF Australia Limited a national association of independent chartered accounting and consulting firms each trading as PKF. The East Coast Practice 
has offices in NSW, Victoria and Brisbane. PKF East Coast Practice is also a member of PKF International, an association of legally independent chartered accounting and consulting firms.

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation

AUDITORS’ INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, in relation to the audit for the year ended 30 
June 2008, there have been:

no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the i. Corporations Act 2001 
in relation to the audit; and 

no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.ii. 

This declaration is in respect of ICSGlobal Limited and the entities it controlled during the year.

PKF
East Coast Practice

Grant Saxon
Partner

Sydney
28 August 2008

Auditors’ Independence Declaration
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Income Statement

ICSGlobal Limited Income Statement For The Year Ended 30 June 2008 
CONSOLIDATED ICSGLOBAL LIMITED

2008 2007 2008 2007
NOTES $ $ $ $

Revenue 5 1,818,451 1,020,652 1,635,602 1,019,787

EXPENSES
Employee expenses 2,469,327 2,597,904 2,304,487 2,597,904

External contractor expenses 360,221 368,195 258,851 368,195

Occupancy expenses 301,206 261,540 263,918 261,540

Computer expenses 146,615 169,491 136,878 169,491

Travel expenses 52,704 52,672 42,841 52,672

Legal fees 89,836 4,330 89,836 4,330

Marketing expenses 181,641 253,159 173,451 253,159

Depreciation 34,131 52,479 33,126 52,479

Other expenses 357,998 203,891 311,066 203,026

6 3,993,679 3,963,661 3,614,454 3,962,796

Loss before income tax (2,175,228) (2,943,009) (1,978,852) (2,943,009)

Income tax benefit 7 388,628 368,285 347,390 368,285

Loss for the year after income tax (1,786,600) (2,574,724) (1,631,462) (2,574,724)

Loss is attributable to equity holders 
of ICSGlobal Limited

(1,786,600) (2,574,724) (1,631,462) (2,574,724)

EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic (cents per share) 17 (1.5) (2.7)

Diluted (cents per share) 17 (1.5) (2.7)

The above Income Statement should be read in conjunction with the attached notes.
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ICSGlobal Limited Balance Sheet As At 30 June 2008 
CONSOLIDATED ICSGLOBAL LIMITED

2008 2007 2008 2007
NOTES $ $ $ $

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 8 3,567,016 3,577,952 3,185,015 3,542,165

Trade and other receivables 9 453,199 237,652 2,048,089 273,330

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 4,020,215 3,815,604 5,233,104 3,815,495

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Other financial assets 10  -  - 1,100,711 100

Held-to-maturity investments 11 169,279 140,805 140,805 140,805

Plant and equipment 12 86,261 72,579 80,463 72,579

Deferred tax assets 7 41,238  -  -  - 

Intangible assets 13 2,214,282  -  -  - 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 2,511,060 213,384 1,321,979 213,484

TOTAL ASSETS 6,531,275 4,028,988 6,555,083 4,028,979

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables 14 308,810 279,815 182,982 279,806

Provisions 15 157,174 142,769 151,069 142,769

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 465,984 422,584 334,051 422,575

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Provisions 15 199,485 176,751 199,485 176,751

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 199,485 176,751 199,485 176,751

TOTAL LIABILITIES 665,469 599,335 533,536 599,326

NET ASSETS 5,865,806 3,429,653 6,021,547 3,429,653

EQUITY
Contributed equity 19 31,197,907 26,926,761 31,197,907 26,926,761

Accumulated losses (25,392,287) (23,605,687) (25,237,149) (23,605,687)

Foreign currency translation reserve (603)  -  -  - 

Share-based payments reserve 19 60,789 108,579 60,789 108,579

TOTAL EQUITY 5,865,806 3,429,653 6,021,547 3,429,653

The above Balance Sheet should be read in conjunction with the attached notes.

Balance Sheet
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ICSGlobal Limited Statement Of Changes In Equity For The Year Ended 30 June 2008 
CONSOLIDATED GROUP

Contributed 
Equity 

Accumulated 
Losses

Foreign Currency 
Translation 

Reserve

Share Based 
Payments 
Reserve

Total Equity

$ $ $ $ $

BALANCE AS AT 1 JULY 2006 21,761,018 (21,030,963)  - 181,734 911,789

Loss for the year  - (2,574,724)  -  - (2,574,724)

ISSUE OF NEW SHARES
8,150,000 Rights Issue Shares issued on 28 
August 2006 @ $0.25 each

2,037,500  -  -  - 2,037,500

13,373,000 Shares placed on 12 June 2007 @ 
$0.25 each

3,343,250  -  -  - 3,343,250

Share issue costs (215,007)  -  -  - (215,007)

Cost of share based payments  -  -  - (73,155) (73,155)

Foreign currency translation reserve  -  -  -  - 

BALANCE AS AT 30 JUNE 2007 26,926,761 (23,605,687)  - 108,579 3,429,653

BALANCE AS AT 1 JULY 2007 26,926,761 (23,605,687)  - 108,579 3,429,653

Loss for the year  - (1,786,600)  -  - (1,786,600)

ISSUE OF NEW SHARES

4,568,406 Shares issued on 3 December 2007 
@ $0.23 each for acquisition of LPBS

1,050,733  -  -  - 1,050,733

26,099,792 Rights Issue Shares issued on 15 
April 2008 @ $0.13 each

3,392,973  -  -  - 3,392,973

40,817 Shares issued on 15 May 2008 @ 
$0.245 each

10,000  -  -  - 10,000

Share issue costs (182,560)  -  -  - (182,560)

Cost of share based payments  -  -  - (47,790) (47,790)

Adjustments from translation of foreign 
controlled entities

 -  - (603)  - (603)

BALANCE AS AT 30 JUNE 2008 31,197,907 (25,392,287) (603) 60,789 5,865,806

The above Statement of Changes In Equity should be read in conjunction with the attached notes.

Statement Of Changes In Equity
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 ICSGlobal Limited Statement Of Changes In Equity For The Year Ended 30 June 2008 
ICSGLOBAL LIMITED

Contributed 
Equity 

Accumulated 
Losses

Share Based 
Payments 
Reserve

Total Equity

$ $ $ $

BALANCE AS AT 1 JULY 2006 21,761,018 (21,030,963) 181,734 911,789

Loss for the year  - (2,574,724)  - (2,574,724)

ISSUE OF NEW SHARES
8,150,000 Rights Issue Shares issued on 28 August 2006 @ 
$0.25 each

2,037,500  -  - 2,037,500

13,373,000 Shares placed on 12 June 2007 @ $0.25 each 3,343,250  -  - 3,343,250

Share issue costs (215,007)  -  - (215,007)

Cost of share based payments  -  - (73,155) (73,155)

BALANCE AS AT 30 JUNE 2007 26,926,761 (23,605,687) 108,579 3,429,653

BALANCE AS AT 1 JULY 2007 26,926,761 (23,605,687) 108,579 3,429,653

Loss for the year  - (1,631,462)  - (1,631,462)

ISSUE OF NEW SHARES

4,568,406 Shares issued on 3 December 2007 @ $0.23 each for 
acquisition of LPBS

1,050,733  -  - 1,050,733

26,099,792 Rights Issue Shares issued on 15 April 2008 @ $0.13 
each

3,392,973  -  - 3,392,973

40,817 Shares issued on 15 May 2008 @ $0.245 each 10,000  -  - 10,000

Share issue costs (182,560)  -  - (182,560)

Cost of share based payments  -  - (47,790) (47,790)

BALANCE AS AT 30 JUNE 2008 31,197,907 (25,237,149) 60,789 6,021,547

The above Statement of Changes In Equity should be read in conjunction with the attached notes.

Statement Of Changes In Equity
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 ICSGlobal Limited Cash Flow Statement For The Year Ended 30 June 2008 
CONSOLIDATED ICSGLOBAL LIMITED

2008  2007 2008 2007

NOTES $ $ $ $

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts from customers inclusive of GST 1,415,942 921,628 1,039,049 834,000

Payments to suppliers and employees
inclusive of GST

(4,030,396) (4,021,467) (4,001,659) (3,945,110)

Interest received 173,057 93,143 172,854 92,967

Export market development grant received 74,020 41,450 74,020 41,450

R & D income tax received 347,390 368,285 347,390 368,285

Net cash outflow from operating activities 18 (2,019,987) (2,596,961) (2,368,346) (2,608,408)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payment for plant and equipment (43,054) (40,011) (41,010) (40,011)

Payment for purchase of business, net of cash acquired (1,168,308)  - (1,168,207)  - 

Net cash outflow from investing activities (1,211,362) (40,011) (1,209,217) (40,011)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of shares 3,402,973 5,380,750 3,402,973 5,380,750

Share issue costs (182,560) (215,007) (182,560) (215,007)

Net cash inflow from financing activities   3,220,413 5,165,743 3,220,413 5,165,743

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (10,936) 2,528,771 (357,150) 2,517,324

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 3,577,952 1,049,181 3,542,165 1,024,841

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 8 3,567,016 3,577,952 3,185,015 3,542,165

The above Cash Flow Statement should be read in conjunction with the attached notes.

Cash Flow Statement
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NOTE 1  SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Financial Reporting Framework
This Financial Report covers ICSGlobal Limited as an individual entity and the consolidated entity consisting of ICSGlobal Limited and its 
subsidiaries.  The Financial Report is presented in the Australian currency. 

ICSGlobal Limited is a listed public company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia.

A description of the nature of the consolidated entity’s operations and its principal activities is included in the review of operations in the 
Directors’ Report, both of which are not part of this Financial Report.

The Financial Report was authorised for issue by the directors on 28 August 2008.  The company has the power to amend and reissue the 
Financial Report.

Through the use of the internet, the Group has ensured that all corporate reporting is timely, complete and available globally at minimum cost to 
the Group.  All press releases, Financial Reports and other information are also available on the website at www.iCSGlobal.net

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the Financial Report are set out below.  These policies have been consistently 
applied to all the years presented unless otherwise stated. 

Basis of Preparation
The Financial Report is a general purpose financial report prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, other authoritative 
pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board, Interpretations and the Corporations Act 2001.  

Statement of Compliance 

The financial report complies with Australian Accounting Standards which include Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting 
Standards (AIFRS). 

Early Adoption of Standards

Certain new accounting standards and interpretation have been published that are not mandatory for 30 June 2008 reporting periods. The 
Group has reviewed the proposed accounting standards and the impact of adoption is not material, impacting disclosures only. The Group’s and 
parent entity’s assessment of the impact of these new standards and interpretations is set out below: 

AASB 8 – Will result in a change in the segment disclosures presented in the financial report such that the segments presented will not •	
be based on primary and secondary segments but reflect those segments and amounts regularly reviewed by the entity’s chief operating 
decision maker.  While the amounts presented in the financial statements will not change the amounts presented in the segment 
reporting note may differ to those currently presented as a result of AASB 8 requiring the amounts presented to be based on those seen 
by the entity’s chief operating decision maker. The internal management reports for the 2009 financial year largely reflect the geographic 
segments reported in this 2008 financial report.

AASB101 (amended) – Will not have a material impact on the amounts presented within the financial statement but it likely to result in a •	
substantial change in the presentation and terminology of the primary financial statements.

AASB 3 – Will impact the accounting for future acquisitions, but will not have a significant impact on the accounting for previous •	
acquisitions of wholly owned subsidiaries that have been completed.

Historical Cost Convention
These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention.

Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of ICSGlobal Limited (“company” or “parent 
entity”) as at 30 June 2008, and the results of all subsidiaries for the year then ended.  ICSGlobal Limited and its subsidiaries together are 
referred to in this Financial Report as the Group or the consolidated entity. 

Subsidiaries are those entities over which the parent entity has control.  Control exists where the parent entity has the capacity to dominate 
decision making in relation to the operating policies of another entity so that the other entity operates with the parent entity to achieve the 
objectives of the parent entity.  

A list of controlled entities appears in Note 25 to the financial statements. Consistent accounting policies are employed in the preparation and 
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements include the information and results of each controlled entity from the date on which the parent entity 
obtains control and until such time as the parent entity ceases to control such entity. In preparing the consolidated financial statements, all 
intercompany balance and transactions, and unrealised profits arising within the consolidated entity have been eliminated in full.

Notes To The Financial Statements
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Acquisition of Assets
The purchase method of accounting is used to account for all acquisitions of assets (including business combinations), regardless of whether equity 
instruments or other assets are acquired. Cost is measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued or liabilities incurred 
or assumed at the date of exchange plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition. Where equity instruments are issued in an acquisition, 
the fair value of the instruments is their published market price as at the date of exchange unless, in rare circumstances, it can be demonstrated 
that the published price at the date of exchange is an unreliable indicator of fair value and that other evidence and valuation  methods provide a 
more reliable measure of fair value. Transaction costs arising on the issue of equity instruments are recognised directly in equity.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair 
values at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any minority interest. The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the 
consolidated entity’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is less than the consolidated 
entity’s share of the fair value of the identifiable net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised directly in the income 
statement, but only after a reassessment of the identification and measurement of the net assets acquired.

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the amounts payable in the future are discounted to their present value as at 
the date of exchange. The discount rate used is the entity’s incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which a similar borrowing could be 
obtained from an independent financier under comparable terms and conditions.

Impairment of Assets
Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment, or 
more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. Other assets are reviewed for impairment whenever 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount 
by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs 
to sell and value in use. For the purpose of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately 
identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-
financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

Intangible Assets - Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the consolidated entity’s share of the net identifiable assets 
of the acquired business at the date of acquisition. Goodwill on acquisitions of businesses is included in intangible assets. Goodwill is not 
amortised.  Instead, goodwill is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might 
be impaired, and is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Gain and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying 
amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing.  Each of those cash-generating units represents the 
consolidated entity’s investment in each country of operation by each primary reporting segment.

Notes To The Financial Statements
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Foreign Currency Translation

Functional And Presentation Currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the controlled entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’). The consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, 
which is ICSGlobal Limited’s functional and presentation currency.

Transactions and Balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. 
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at period end exchange rates of 
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the income statement.

Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets and liabilities are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. 

Controlled Entities

The results and financial position of all the controlled entities (none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that have a 
functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

Assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of the balance sheet;•	

Income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates (unless that is not a reasonable approximation •	
of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the dates of 
the transactions); and 

All resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate component of equity.•	

Revenue Recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.  Revenue is recognised for the major business activities as 
follows:

Thelma Subscription Revenue

Thelma users are charged either an annual or monthly subscription fee.  This fee is non refundable.  Subscription fees are billed in accordance 
with the terms and conditions of the Thelma User Agreement signed by each customer.  Thelma subscription fees are recognised as revenue 
when billed.

Thelma Transaction Revenue

Thelma transaction revenue is generated by customers using the Thelma service.  Transaction fees are recognised as revenue in the month that 
the transaction occurs.

Thelma Implementation and Health Consulting Services

This work is generally performed on a time and materials basis and is therefore recognised as revenue in the month that the work is performed.

Where work is performed on a fixed price basis and the outcome of the contract to provide services can be estimated reliably, revenue is 
recognised when the contracted obligations of the company have been performed or by reference to the percentage of the services performed, 
which ever is appropriate to the particular type of contract.

Billing Service Revenue

Revenue is charged based on a percentage of the fees collected from patients and health insurance funds on behalf of doctors.  At the end of 
each month, each doctor is invoiced based on the amount of fees collected during the month.  Revenue is recognised by the consolidated entity 
in the month that the doctors’ fees are collected and received and the commission becomes payable.

Interest Revenue

Interest revenue is recognised on a time proportionate basis that takes into account the effective yield on the financial asset.

Export Market Development Grant

Export Market Development Grants are recognised in the year that the grant is received.

Goods and Services Tax 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except where the amount of GST incurred is 
not recoverable from the Australian Tax Office.  In these circumstances the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of an asset or as 
part of an item of the expense.  Receivable and payables in the Balance Sheet are shown inclusive of GST.

Notes To The Financial Statements
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Share Based Payments
The Group grants employee options to its employees as part of their remuneration packages.  The ICSGlobal Employee Option Plan has been 
approved by shareholders.  The Group values employee options at the date of grant using the Black Scholes methodology.  This value is 
expensed in the Income Statement over the period that the options vest or are expected to vest based on the terms and conditions attached to 
the instruments as well as management’s assumptions about probabilities of payments and compliance with, and attainment of the terms and 
conditions.

Income Tax
Deferred income tax is provided on all temporary differences at the Balance Sheet date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their 
carrying amounts for Financial Reporting purposes.

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences:

Except where the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a •	
business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint ventures, except •	
where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not 
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax assets and unused tax losses, 
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry-forward 
of unused tax assets and unused tax losses can be utilised:

Except where the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of an asset •	
or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor 
taxable profit or loss; and

In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint ventures, •	
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable 
future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each Balance Sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset is realised or the 
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the Balance Sheet date.

Income taxes relating to items recognised directly in equity are recognised in equity and not in the Income Statement.

Investments and Other Financial Assets
The Group classifies its investments in the following categories:

Loans and receivables; •	

Held-to-maturity investments;•	

Purchases and sales of investments and financial assets are accounted for at trade date.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.  They 
arise when the Group provides money, goods or services directly to a debtor with no intention of selling the receivable.  They are included 
in current assets, except for those with maturities greater than 12 months after the Balance Sheet date, which are classified as non-current 
assets. 

Held-to-maturity investments

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities that the Group’s 
management has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity.  Held-to-maturity financial assets are included in non-current assets, 
except for those with maturities less than 12 months from the Balance Sheet date, which are classified as current assets.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and in banks and investments in money market instruments with terms of three months or 
less.

For the purposes of the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined above.

Notes To The Financial Statements
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Trade Receivables
Trade receivables generally have 14 to 30 day payment terms, and are recognised and carried at the original invoice amount less an allowance 
for any uncollectible amounts.  An estimate for doubtful debts is made when collection of the full amount is no longer probable.  Bad debts are 
written off when identified.

Revenue from Thelma customers billed in Australia is billed and receivable in Australian Dollars.  Revenue from customers billed in the UK 
(LPBS) is billed and receivable in UK pounds sterling.

Plant and Equipment
Plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment in value.

The depreciable amount of all fixed assets is depreciated, using the straight-line method, over their useful lives to the Group commencing from 
the time the asset is held ready for use. The annual depreciation rates used for each class of assets are:

Class of Fixed Asset Annual Depreciation Rate

Leasehold Improvements 33%

Computer Hardware and Software 27%

Furniture and Fittings 33%

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired.  Where an indicator of impairment 
exists, the Group makes a formal estimate of recoverable amount.  Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount the 
asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. (Refer to impairments of assets).

An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued 
use of the asset.

Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount 
of the item) is included in the Income Statement in the period the item is derecognised.

Research and Development
Research and development costs are expensed as incurred. 

Trade and Other Payables
Trade payables represent the liabilities outstanding at balance date plus, where applicable, any accrued interest.

Operating Leases
Operating lease payments are charged as an expense in the Income Statement on a basis which is representative of the pattern of benefits 
derived from the leased property.  Operating lease incentives are expensed on a straight line basis over the term of the lease.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that an 
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount 
of the obligation.

Where the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is 
recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to any provision is presented in the 
Income Statement net of any reimbursement.

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where 
discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.

Notes To The Financial Statements
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Employee Benefits
The following liabilities arising in respect of employee benefits are measured at their nominal amounts:

Wages and salaries and annual leave, regardless whether they are expected to be settled within twelve months of balance date.•	

Other employee benefits, which are expected to be settled within twelve months of balance date.•	

All other employee benefits, including long service leave, are measured at the present value of the estimated future cash outflows in respect of 
services provided up to balance date.  Liabilities are determined after taking into consideration estimated future increase in wages and salaries 
and past experience regarding staff departures. Related on-costs are included in the calculation of the liability.

Contributed Equity
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.  Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a 
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Earnings Per Share

Basic Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders of the company, excluding any costs of servicing 
equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus 
elements in ordinary shares issued during the year. 

Diluted Earnings Per Share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into account the after income tax 
effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares and the weighted average number of shares 
assumed to have been issued for no consideration in relation to dilutive potential ordinary shares.

Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements
The Group tests annually whether Goodwill has suffered any impairment in accordance with the stated accounting policy.  The recoverable 
amounts of cash generating units have been determined based on value in use calculations.  These calculations require the use of assumptions.  
Refer to Note 13 for details of these assumptions and the potential impact of changes to the assumptions.
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NOTE 2  EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO REPORTING DATE 

Since 30 June 2008 and the date of this report, the following events have occurred:

The Group announced the transaction volumes for the quarter ended 30 June 2008;•	

The Group announced that Thelma-US has appointed a new Vice President;•	

The Group announced that nib health funds re-signed with Thelma and commenced implementing hospital claims;•	

The Group announced that Thelma-US signed a partnering agreement with ClaimRemedi; and •	

The Group announced that Thelma Pty Ltd, a wholly owned subsidiary of ICSGlobal limited, filed an application in the Federal Court •	
of Australia for relief from alleged anti-competitive conduct by Medicare Australia. The Group has tried to engage in a dialogue with 
Medicare Australia to settle the claim, but Medicare Australia has refused to have any serious dialogue. Thelma Pty Ltd are alleging that 
Medicare Australia are acting anti-competitively, with the purpose or effect of eliminating or substantially damaging Thelma; and/or to 
deter or prevent Thelma from engaging in competitive conduct.  The directors believe that the litigation, which the Group has been forced 
to initiate, will create a level playing field between Thelma and Medicare Australia.  At this early stage of the litigation, it is too early to 
quantify the likely cost and outcome of this litigation.

The Group announced that live commercial transactions had commenced through the Thelma service in the US.•	

NOTE 3  SEGMENT INFORMATION  

Primary Reporting Format - Geographical Segments by Location of Customers

Australia
The Group’s core business is the ownership and operation of Thelma and the provision of related services to the health industry. The segment 
figures shown for Australia reflect the Thelma business in Australia, all corporate costs and the cost of developing and maintaining the Thelma 
product as required by the UK and US markets.

United Kingdom
ICSGlobal acquired the London Patient Billing Service in the United Kingdom effective 1 December 2007. London Patient Billing Service operates 
under Thelma-EU Limited, a wholly owned UK based subsidiary. The London Patient Billing Service provides billing and other clerical services to 
specialist surgeons in the UK. 

The Group is continuing its efforts to establish the Thelma service in the UK, which will enable doctors to electronically submit medical claims 
to health insurance funds. 

The segment figures shown for the UK include the London Patient Billing Service business and the marketing costs associated with establishing 
the Thelma service in the UK.

United States of America
The Group is continuing its efforts to establish the Thelma service in the US, which will enable a range of different health service providers, 
billers and funders to exchange health information electronically.

The segment figures shown for the US reflect the marketing costs associated with establishing the Thelma service in the US.
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Primary Reporting Format – Geographical Segments by Location of Customers

Geographical Segments

Australia United Kingdom United States Total

2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Revenue from external 
customers

1,035,175 886,059 536,199 - - - 1,571,374 886,059

Other revenue 247,077 134,953 - - - - 247,077 134,953

Depreciation (33,126) (52,479) (1,005) - - - (34,131) (52,479)

Other non cash expenses 16,756 (122,026) (6,105) - - - 10,651 (122,026)

Inter segment charges 357,503 - (357,503) - - - - -

Other expenses (3,512,510) (3,602,562) (367,958) (102,157) (89,731) (84,797) (3,970,199) (3,789,516)

Segment result (1,889,125) (2,756,055) (196,372) (102,157) (89,731) (84,797) (2,175,228) (2,943,009)

Income tax benefit 347,390 368,285 41,238 - - - 388,628 368,285

Loss for the period (1,541,735) (2,387,770) (155,134) (102,157) (89,731) (84,797) (1,786,600) (2,574,724)

Carrying amount of 
segment assets

3,699,653 4,028,988 2,831,622 - - - 6,531,275 4,028,988

Segment liabilities 562,146 599,335 103,323 - - - 665,469 599,335

Segment capital 
expenditure

(41,010) (40,011) (2,044) - - - (43,054) (40,011)

Segment net cash flow (267,419) 2,715,725 346,214 (102,157) (89,731) (84,797) (10,936) 2,528,771

Secondary Reporting Format – Business Segments  

Thelma
The Thelma service provides secure electronic health messaging and claiming services. The segment figures shown for the Thelma business 
relate to Australia,  the UK and the US.

Billing
The London Patient Billing Service provides billing and other clerical services to specialist surgeons in the UK. 

Segment revenue from sales to 
external customers Segment assets Capital expenditure

2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

$ $ $ $ $ $

Thelma 1,035,175 886,059 3,699,653 4,028,988 41,010 40,011

Billing (LPBS) 536,199 - 2,831,622 - 2,044 -

1,571,374 886,059 6,531,275 4,028,988 43,054 40,011
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NOTE 4  BUSINESS COMBINATION 

Effective 1 December 2007, the Group acquired the business of London Patient Billing Service, which is based in the United Kingdom for 
$1,118,436 in cash and the issue of 4,568,406 shares in ICSGlobal Limited at the published price of $0.23 per share.

In the seven months of ownership, the acquired business contributed revenues of $536,199 and a net profit of $268,587. This net profit figure 
is before management charges from the parent entity of $357,503, and excludes costs associated with the marketing of Thelma in the UK of 
$66,218.

If the acquisition had occurred on 1 July 2007, the acquired business would have contributed for the 12 month period revenue of $873,078 and 
net profit of $428,161 (before management charges and Thelma marketing costs) 

Details of the purchase consideration, assets acquired and resulting goodwill are as follows:

$

Purchase Consideration
 Cash consideration 1,118,436

 Equity consideration 1,050,733

 Direct costs relating to the acquisition 49,878

Total Purchase Consideration 2,219,047

$

Assets Acquired

Fair value of identifiable assets acquired – plant and equipment 4,759

Goodwill on acquisition 2,214,288

Total Assets Purchased 2,219,047

Group’s Carrying Amount
$

Fair Value
$

Valuation of the identifiable assets arising from the acquisition are as follows:

Plant and equipment 4,759 4,759

Goodwill has arisen on the acquisition of London Patient Billing Service because of its established business operations and history of 
profitability. 
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NOTE 5  REVENUE 
Consolidated ICSGlobal Limited

2008 2007 2008 2007

$ $ $ $

Transaction revenue from external parties 699,049 544,075 - -

Hospital and fund annual and other fees from external parties 326,776 302,434 - -

Transaction fees, hospital and fund annual fees and other fees from 
Thelma Pty Ltd and Thelma-EU Ltd management fee

- - 1,388,728 885,370

Billing service revenue 536,199 - - -

Consulting revenue 9,350 39,550 - -

1,571,374 886,059 1,388,728 885,370

Other revenue
Export Market Development Grant 74,020 41,450 74,020 41,450

Interest 173,057 93,143 172,854 92,967

247,077 134,593 246,874 134,417

Total Revenue 1,818,451 1,020,652 1,635,602 1,019,787

NOTE 6  EXPENSES
Consolidated ICSGlobal Limited

2008 2007 2008 2007

$ $ $ $

Loss before income tax includes the following specific expenses

Research and development 876,000 919,642 876,000 919,642

Lease rental expense – minimum lease payments 301,206 261,540 263,918 261,540

Depreciation of plant and equipment 34,131 52,479 33,126 52,479
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NOTE 7  INCOME TAX
Consolidated ICSGlobal Limited

2008 2007 2008 2007
$ $ $ $

Income tax benefit

Current tax 347,390 368,285 347,390 368,285

Deferred tax 41,238 - - -

388,628 368,285 347,390 368,285

Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie tax payable.

Loss from continuing operations (2,175,228) (2,943,009) (1,978,852) (2,943,009)

Tax at the Australian tax rate of 30% (2007 – 30%) (652,568) (882,903) (593,656) (882,903)

Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible (taxable) in calculating taxable income
Share issue expenses (3,227) (6,608) (3,227) (6,608)

Entertainment 1,830 1,643 1,830 1,643

Legal Fees 26,951 1,299 26,951 1,299

R & D claimed 283,640 304,535 283,640 304,535

Current year losses not recognised 284,462 582,034 284,462 582,034

593,656 882,903 593,656 882,903

Difference in overseas tax rates 17,674 - - -

Income Tax (Revenue) Attributable To Operating Profit (41,238) - - -

Income Tax (Revenue) From  R & D Claim (347,390) (368,285) (347,390) (368,285)

NON CURRENT ASSETS

Deferred tax asset 41,238 - - -

The potential future income tax benefits attributable to the tax loss in the UK for the 2008 financial year of $41,238 (applied at the UK tax rate 
of 21% applicable to the size of the business) has been recognised as a deferred tax asset as the directors believe it is appropriate to regard 
realisation of the future income tax benefit as probable. 

Potential future income tax benefits attributable to tax losses carried forward amounting to $6,335,904 for the Group, calculated at a tax rate of 
30%, (2007: $6,046,787at 30%) have not been brought to account because the directors do not believe it is appropriate to regard realisation of 
the future income tax benefit as probable. These benefits will only be obtained if:

The Group derives future assessable income of a nature and of an amount sufficient to enable the benefit from the deduction for the loss •	
to be realised;

The Group continues to comply with the conditions for deductibility imposed by law; and•	

No changes in tax legislation adversely affect the Group in realising the benefit from the deductions for the loss.•	

The balance of the franking account as at 30 June 2008 was as a credit of $79,407 (2007: $79,407).
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NOTE 8  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Consolidated ICSGlobal Limited

2008 2007 2008 2007

$ $ $ $

Cash and Cash Equivalents 3,567,016 3,577,952 3,185,015 3,542,165

NOTE 9  TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Consolidated ICSGlobal Limited

2008 2007 2008 2007

$ $ $ $

CURRENT
Trade accounts receivable 372,319 185,778 - -

Prepayments 43,093 38,111 43,093 38,111

Loans to related parties - - 1,971,359 195,758

GST and VAT Refunds 37,787 13,763 33,637 39,461

Total Trade and Other Receivables – Current 453,199 237,652 2,048,089 273,330

Based on the Group’s collection history and the collections since year end, the Group has not recognised any losses in respect of bad and 
doubtful trade receivables during the years ended 30 June 2008 and 30 June 2007. 

Trade accounts receivables past due but not impaired totalled $42,461 (2007: $13,393).  The Group aged accounts receivable as at 30 June was 
as follows:

Current 30 – 60 Days 60 – 90 Days 90+ Days Total
$ $ $ $ $

2008 197,182 87,237 45,439 42,461 372,319

2007 124,393 45,599 2,393 13,393 185,778

Further information relating to loans to related parties is set out in note 24.

Further information relating to the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk and credit risk is set out in note 17.
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NOTE 10  OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
Consolidated ICSGlobal Limited

2008 2007 2008 2007

$ $ $ $

NON CURRENT

Investment in Thelma Pty Ltd  – at cost - - 100 100

Investment in Thelma-EU Limited – at cost - - 1,100,611 -

Total Other Financial Assets – Non Current - - 1,100,711 100

Further information relating to investment in subsidiaries is set out in note 25.

 NOTE 11  HELD-TO-MATURITY INVESTMENTS
Consolidated ICSGlobal Limited

2008 2007 2008 2007

$ $ $ $

NON CURRENT

Term deposit1 140,805 140,805 140,805 140,805

Rental deposit2 28,474 - - -

Total Held-to-Maturity Investments – Non Current 169,279 140,805 140,805 140,805

1 The term deposit is a standard commercial guarantee relating to the lease of the premises used as the principal place of business and 
registered office of the Group.  The term deposit is in ICSGlobal’s name and is measured at fair value. 
2  The rental deposits relate to the premises occupied by the London Patient Billing Service.  The deposits are held by the landlord until the 
expiry of the term of the leases and are subject to the satisfactory performance of all tenant covenants on the leases. The deposits are held in 
an interest bearing deposit account with the Landlord’s bank and all interest revenue is remitted back to the Group.

Further information relating to the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk is set out in note 17.

Notes To The Financial Statements



 2008 Year in Review44 ICSGlobal Annual Report 2008

NOTE 12  PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Consolidated ICSGlobal Limited

2008 2007 2008 2007

$ $ $ $

NON CURRENT

Leasehold improvements
At cost 250,055 250,055 250,055 250,055

Accumulated depreciation (250,055) (250,055) (250,055) (250,055)

- - - -

Office Furniture and Equipment
At cost 139,986 135,227 135,227 135,227

Accumulated depreciation (125,449) (124,429) (124,699) (124,429)

14,537 10,798 10,528 10,798

Computer Equipment
 At cost 861,824 818,770 859,780 818,770

 Accumulated depreciation (790,100) (756,989) (789,845) (756,989)

71,724 61,781 69,935 61,781

Total Plant and Equipment – Non Current 86,261 72,579 80,463 72,579

Consolidated: 2008
Leasehold 

Improvements
Office Furniture and 

Equipment
Computer 
Equipment

Total

$ $ $ $

Balance at the beginning of the year - 10,798 61,781 72,579

Additions - - 43,054 43,054

Acquisitions through business combination - 4,759 - 4,759

Depreciation expense - (1,020) (33,111) (34,131)

Balance at the end of  the year - 14,537 71,724 86,261

ICSGlobal Limited: 2008
Leasehold 

Improvements
Office Furniture and 

Equipment
Computer 
Equipment

Total

$ $ $ $

Balance at the beginning of the year - 10,798 61,781 72,579

Additions - - 41,010 41,010

Depreciation expense - (270) (32,856) (33,126)

Balance at the end of  the year - 10,528 69,935 80,463
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NOTE 13  INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Consolidated ICSGlobal Limited

2008 2007 2008 2007
$ $ $ $

NON CURRENT

Goodwill 2,214,282 - - -

Total Intangible Assets – Non Current 2,214,282 - - -

Balance at the beginning of the year - - - -

Acquisition through business combination 2,214,282 - - -

Balance at the end of the year 2,214,282 - - -

Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash generating units (CGU) identified according to business segment and country of operation.

A segment - level summary of the goodwill allocation is presented below:

2008 2007

$ $

United Kingdom - LPBS 2,214,282 -

Total 2,214,282 -

The recoverable amount of the CGU above is determined based on value-in-use calculations.  These calculations use cash flow projections 
based on various financial budgets and projections approved by management covering a five year period. 

All of these projections reflect management’s expectation that LPBS will grow significantly in the next five years.  The growth in monthly 
revenues for the seven months since acquisition, has exceeded 20%.  

To illustrate that the goodwill is not impaired, management modelled the revenue over a five year period, assuming moderate growth of 10% 
per annum, a discount rate of 7.25% and the ratio of costs to revenue remaining constant.  Further analysis indicates that the annual growth 
would have to fall below 5% per annum before the goodwill might be impaired. 

NOTE 14 – TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Consolidated ICSGlobal Limited
2008 2007 2008 2007

$ $ $ $

CURRENT
Trade creditors 222,327 189,341 133,894 189,227

Sundry creditors and accruals 86,483 90,474 49,088 90,579

Total Trade and Other Payables – Current 308,810 279,815 182,982 279,806
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NOTE 15  PROVISIONS

Consolidated ICSGlobal Limited
2008 2007 2008 2007

$ $ $ $

CURRENT
Employee annual leave entitlements 157,174 142,769 151,069 142,769

Total Provisions – Current 157,174 142,769 151,069 142,769

NON CURRENT
Employee long service leave entitlements 171,554 148,820 171,554 148,820
Directors retirement benefits1 27,931 27,931 27,931 27,931

Total Provisions – Non Current 199,485 176,751 199,485 176,751
1  In July 2003, the directors made a decision to discontinue the non-executive directors retirement benefits scheme.  Accordingly, no benefits 
have been accrued since 30 June 2003. Amounts accrued under the scheme prior to 30 June 2003 will be paid to the respective non-executive 
director upon their retirement. 

NOTE 16  COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

Operating Leases
The Group has four operating leases, which have not been capitalised in the financial statements.

Details of the operating leases are as follows:

Lease Cancellable Term Payments In 
Advance Option To Renew Allow For Sub-Letting

Registered Office No 30 June 2012 Yes No Yes

Data Centre Hosting No 2 August 2008 No Yes No

LPBS UK – premises 1 No 22 July 2011 Yes No Yes

LPBS UK – premises 2 No 22 July 2011 Yes No Yes

The lease over the Registered Office at 201 Kent Street, Sydney, NSW Australia expired on 30 June 2008.  This lease included the potential for 
make good to be carried out at the expiration of the lease term.  A new lease for the same premises commenced on 1 July 2008.  Accordingly 
no make good costs were incurred for the lease expiring on 30 June 2008.  The new lease includes the potential for make good to be carried out 
at the expiration of the lease term.  A provision for make good of $24,000 per annum will be made for the term of the new lease.  A standard 
commercial guarantee relating to the lease of the premises exists.  As at 30 June 2008 the fair value of the guarantee was $140,805 (2007 
$140,805).

The United Kingdom premises are covered by two leases.  Two standard rental bonds relating to the leases of the premises exist.  As at 30 June 
2008 the fair value of the guarantees was $28,474 (2007 Nil).

Consolidated ICSGlobal Limited

2008 2007 2008 2007
$ $ $ $

Payable:
Not later than 1 year 490,410 313,854 421,293 313,854

Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years 1,503,040 2,725 1,358,855 2,725

Total Operating Lease Commitments 1,993,450 316,579 1,780,148 316,579
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NOTE 17  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

Financial Risk Management Policies
The Group’s financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, accounts receivable and payable and loans to subsidiaries.  The main 
financial instrument is cash held for working capital.

The Group’s risk management policies are approved and reviewed by the Board on a regular basis.  These include the use of credit risk policies 
and future cash flow forecasts.

The main concentration of risks the Group is exposed to through its financial instruments is foreign currency risk because of its operations 
overseas.  Interest rate risk is limited to interest income on cash and cash equivalents since the Group has no financial liabilities that are 
exposed to interest rates.

Foreign Currency Risk
The Group is exposed to fluctuations in foreign currencies arising from the sale and purchase of goods and services in currencies other than the 
Group’s measurement currency. The Group has assets and liabilities in currencies other than the Group’s measurement currency. 

Revenue from Australian customers is billed and received in Australian dollars. Expenses are paid in Australian dollars.  Assets and liabilities 
are held in Australian dollars.

Revenue from London Patient Billing Service customers is billed and received by Thelma-EU Limited in UK pounds sterling. Expenses are paid in 
UK pounds sterling.  Assets and liabilities are held in UK pounds sterling.

Revenue from Thelma-US Inc. customers is billed and received by Thelma-US Inc. in US dollars. Expenses are paid in US dollars.  Assets and 
liabilities are held in US dollars.

The Group does not have any foreign currency hedges in place.

Interest Rate Risk
The Group has no financial liabilities that are exposed to interest rate risk. 

Exposure to interest rate risks or financial rate risks on financial assets and liabilities of the Group (ie consolidated entity) are summarised as 
follows:

Financial instrument composition and maturity analysis

The tables below reflect the undiscounted contractual settlement terms for financial instruments of a fixed period of maturity, as well as 
management’s expectations of the settlement period for all other financial instruments. 

Group - 2008 Non Interest 
Bearing

Floating
Interest

Rate

Total

All items have maturity within 1 year 2008 2008 2008
$ $ $

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents - 3,567,016 3,567,016
Term deposit - 140,805 140,805
Rental deposit - 28,474 28,474
Trade receivables 372,319 - 372,319

Other receivables 80,880 - 80,880

Total Financial Assets 453,199 3,736,295 4,189,494

Financial Liabilities

Trade payables 308,810 - 308,810

Total Financial Liabilities 308,810 - 308,810

Weighted Average Interest Rate N/A 6.8%
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Group - 2007 Non Interest 
Bearing

Floating
Interest

Rate

Total

All items have maturity within 1 year 2007 2007 2007
$ $ $

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents - 3,577,952 3,577,952
Term deposit - 140,805 140,805
Trade receivables 185,778 - 185,778

Other receivables 51,874 - 51,874

Total Financial Assets 237,652 3,718,757 3,956,409

Financial Liabilities

Trade payables 279,815 - 279,815

Total Financial Liabilities 279,815 - 279,815

Weighted Average Interest Rate N/A 6.0%

Trade and sundry payables are expected to be paid as follows:

Consolidated ICSGlobal Limited
2008 2007 2008 2007

$ $ $ $

Less than 6 months 308,810 279,815 182,981 279,806

More than 6 months - - - -

308,810 279,815 182,981 279,806

Credit Risk

The maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of any collateral or other security, at balance date to recognised financial assets is the 
carrying amount, net of any provisions, as disclosed in the Balance Sheet and Notes to the financial statements. The Group does not have any 
material credit risk exposure to any single debtor or Group of debtors under financial instruments entered into by the Group. 

Credit risk is managed by using banks with an ‘A’ financial rating for deposits and assessing potential customers for credit worthiness taking 
into account their size, market position and financial standing. 

Net Fair Values

The aggregate net fair values and carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities at balance date are materially equal because all 
maturity and settlement dates are within one year.

Sensitivity Analysis
The Group has performed a sensitivity analysis relating to interest rate risk and foreign currency risk at balance date.  This sensitivity analysis 
demonstrates the effect on the current year results and equity, which could result from a change in these risks.
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Foreign Currency Risk Sensitivity Analysis

At 30 June 2008, the effect on profit and equity as a result of changes in the value of the Australian Dollar to the UK Pound, with all other 
variables remaining constant would be as follows:

Foreign Currency Risk Sensitivity Analysis

Consolidated ICSGlobal Limited

2008 2007 2008 2007

$ $ $ $

Change in loss
- Improvement in AUD to UK Pounds Sterling by 5% (7,760) (1,500) - (1,500)

- Decline in AUD to UK Pounds Sterling by 5% 7,760 1,500 - 1,500

Change in equity
- Improvement in AUD to UK Pounds Sterling by 5% (23,643) (1,500) - (1,500)

- Decline in AUD to UK Pounds Sterling by 5% 23,643 1,500 - 1,500

Interest Rate Sensitivity Analysis

At 30 June 2008, the effect on profit and equity as a result of changes in the interest rate, with all other variables remaining constant would be 
as follows:

Interest Rate Sensitivity Analysis

Consolidated ICSGlobal Limited

2008 2007 2008 2007

$ $ $ $

CHANGE IN LOSS

- Increase in interest rates by 2% 74,726 31,000 50,880 31,000

- Decrease in interest rates by 2% (74,726) (31,000) (50,880) (31,000)

CHANGE IN EQUITY

- Increase in interest rates by 2% 74,726 31,000 50,880 31,000

- Decrease in interest rates by 2% (74,726) (31,000) (50,880) (31,000)
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NOTE 18  CASH FLOW RECONCILIATION

Consolidated ICSGlobal Limited
Reconciliation of Net Cash Provided By / (Used In)  

Operating Activities to Operating Loss after Income Tax 2008 2007 2008 2007

$ $ $ $

Operating loss after income tax (1,786,600) (2,574,724) (1,631,462) (2,574,724)

Depreciation 34,131 52,479 33,126 52,479

Non-cash employee benefits expense – share based payments (47,790) (73,155) (47,790) (73,155)

(Increase)/Decrease in trade accounts receivable (186,541) (53,037) - -

(Increase)/Decrease in loans to related parties - - (657,271) (55,370)

(Increase)/Decrease in held-to-maturity investments (28,474) - - -

(Increase)/Decrease in GST refund (24,024) (10,226) 5,824 (19,331)

(Increase)/Decrease in prepayments (4,982) 11,773 (4,982) 11,773

(Increase)/Decrease in deferred tax (41,238) - - -

Increase/(Decrease) in trade payables 28,995 98,800 (96,825) 98,791

Increase/(Decrease) in employee benefits 37,139 (48,871) 31,034 (48,871)

(Increase)/Decrease in exchange rate translation (603) - - -

Net Cash Provided By/(Used) In Operating Activities (2,019,987) (2,596,961) (2,368,346) (2,608,408)
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NOTE 19  CONTRIBUTED EQUITY AND RESERVES
Consolidated ICSGlobal Limited

2008 2007 2008 2007
$ $ $ $

Share Capital: Ordinary Shares fully paid (Par Value: $1.00 each) 31,197,907 26,926,761 31,197,907 26,926,761

The Group’s capital includes ordinary share capital. There are no externally imposed capital requirements. 

Management controls the capital of the Group in order to ensure that the Group has appropriate working capital on hand at all times to fund 
its operations.  During the 2007 and 2008 financial years, the Group has issued shares to raise additional working capital.  There have been no 
changes in the strategy adopted by management since the prior year.

Group Number of Shares $

2008 2007 2008 2007

Ordinary Shares at beginning of the financial year 110,030,705 88,507,705

Opening Capital 26,926,761 21,761,018

Shares issued during the year / Proceeds of Capital Raising:

Rights Issue Shares issued on 28 August 2006 @ $0.25 each - 8,150,000 - 2,037,500

Shares placed on 12 June 2007 @ $0.25 each - 13,373,000 - 3,343,250

Shares issued as part of the consideration for the acquisition of  
London Patient Billing Service

4,568,406 - 1,050,733 -

Rights Issue Shares issued on 15 April 2008 @ $0.13 each 26,099,792 - 3,392,973 -

Shares issued on 15 May 2008 @ $0.245 each 40,817 - 10,000 -

Capital Raising Expenses - - (182,560) (215,007)

Total Shares On Issue / Closing Balance 140,739,720 110,030,705 31,197,907 26,926,761

The movement schedule for the parent entity is identical to the movement schedule for the Group.

Share Based Payments Reserve
Consolidated ICSGlobal Limited

2008 2007 2008 2007
$ $ $ $

Balance at the beginning of the year 108,579 181,734 108,579 181,734

Option expense (47,790) (73,155) (47,790) (73,155)

Balance at the end of the year 60,789 108,579 60,789 108,579

The share based payments reserve is used to recognise the fair value of options issued to employees but not exercised.
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Accumulated Losses
Consolidated ICSGlobal Limited

2008 2007 2008 2007
$ $ $ $

Balance at the beginning of the year (23,605,687) (21,030,963) (23,605,686) (21,030,963)

Loss for the year (1,786,600) (2,574,724) (1,631,462) (2,574,724)

Balance at the end of the year (25,392,287) (23,605,687) (25,237,148) (23,605,687)

Foreign Currency Translation Reserve
Consolidated ICSGlobal Limited

2008 2007 2008 2007
$ $ $ $

Balance at the beginning of the year - - - -

Pound Sterling translation (603) - - -

Balance at the end of the year (603) - - -

Exchange differences arising on translation of the foreign controlled entity are taken to the foreign currency translation reserve.  The reserve is 
recognised in profit and loss when the net investment is disposed of.

NOTE 20  EARNINGS PER SHARE

Consolidated ICSGlobal Limited
2008 2007 2008 2007

Basic earnings per share (1.5) cents (2.7) cents (1.4) cents (2.7) cents

Diluted earnings per share (1.5) cents (2.7) cents (1.4) cents (2.7) cents

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during 
the year used in the calculation of basic earnings per share and 
diluted earnings per share

118,160,585 96,058,765 118,160,585 96,058,765

Loss used to calculate basic earnings per share and fully diluted 
earnings per share

(1,786,600) (2,574,724) (1,631,462) (2,574,724)
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NOTE 21  AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

Consolidated ICSGlobal Limited
2008 2007 2008 2007

$ $ $ $
The Auditor’s provided the following services to the Group:

Audit Services

Audit and review of financial reports and other audit work under the 
Corporations Act 2001

34,610 27,500 34,610 27,500

Total Remuneration for Audit Services 34,610 27,500 34,610 27,500

Taxation Services
Tax returns – assistance 7,130 6,460 7,130 6,460
Tax advice 875 2,900 875 2,900
Export market development grant - assistance 7,000 4,145 7,000 4,145
R & D tax concession offset claim - assistance 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000

Other Services
   Rights issue advice - 3,300 - 3,300

   Workers Compensation Audit 850 - 850 -

Total Remuneration for Non-Audit Services 40,855 41,805 40,855 41,805

It is the Group’s policy to employ PKF for assignments additional to their annual audit duties, when PKF’s expertise and experience with the 
Group are important.  These assignments are principally tax compliance assignments and the board of directors is satisfied that the auditor’s 
independence is not compromised as a result of these non-audit services performed.
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NOTE 22  SHARE BASED PAYMENTS 

The objective of the ICSGlobal Employee Option Plan is to provide employees of ICSGlobal with the opportunity to acquire an ownership interest 
in ICSGlobal by way of options to acquire unissued ordinary shares in ICSGlobal.  The ICSGlobal Employee Option Plan is to be administered 
by the board of directors (although the directors may delegate these functions and powers) in accordance with the Rules of the ICSGlobal 
Employee Option Plan (‘Plan Rules’)

Each option issued under the ICSGlobal Employee Option Plan confers an entitlement to subscribe for and be issued one ordinary share in the 
capital of ICSGlobal. 

Under the Plan Rules, the directors determine the identity of employee to be granted options, the number, exercise price and any other terms 
relating to the options which are fair and reasonable (but not inconsistent with the Plan Rules).  No amount is payable on the grant of an option 
to an eligible employee.  The consideration given by an eligible employee for a grant of options will be the services to be provided by the 
employee to ICSGlobal.

No option may be issued under the Plan Rules if:

Immediately after such issue, the employee would own (legally or beneficially) or control the exercise or voting power attached to more •	
than 5% of all ICSGlobal’s ordinary shares then on issue;

To do so would contravene the Constitution, the Corporations Act, 2001, the Listing Rules or any other applicable law of a jurisdiction in •	
which ICSGlobal is registered or incorporated or, with respect to a participating employee, any other applicable law of the jurisdiction in 
which that employee resides.

Unless determined otherwise by the directors and notified to the shareholders of ICSGlobal, the directors may not issue options under the Plan 
Rules if the number of options on issue, which are capable of exercise under the Plan Rules, represent, at any one time, more than 10% of the 
total number of ICSGlobal’s ordinary shares then on issue.

Subject to the Listing Rules, the board of directors may amend the ICSGlobal Employee Option Plan at any time. 

In respect of ordinary shares to which an option relates, option holders may not participate in a new issue of securities to holders of ordinary 
shares, bonus issues of ordinary shares (or other securities to existing shareholders) or any issue by ICSGlobal of ordinary shares pro rata to 
existing shareholders unless the relevant option has been exercised and ordinary shares issued to the employee before the record date for 
determining entitlements to the issue.

If there is a reconstruction of the issued shares in ICSGlobal, the number of options to which a participating employee is entitled will be 
reconstructed as required by the Listing Rules in a manner which will not result in any benefits being conferred on the employee which are not 
conferred on shareholders. If a takeover bid is made to acquire some or all of the issued shares in ICSGlobal or a Court sanctioned compromise 
or arrangement is made which, if implemented, would result in a change in the legal or beneficial interest of 50% or more of the issued shares 
in ICSGlobal or would result in 50% or more of the issued shares in ICSGlobal being controlled by one entity, participating employees may 
either exercise their options or must exercise their options, as set out in a change of control notice to be issued by the board of directors.

Shares allotted under the ICSGlobal Employee Option Plan will rank equally with all other issued ordinary shares in ICSGlobal, subject to the 
Plan Rules.  ICSGlobal Limited will not seek quotation on the ASX of any options issued under the ICSGlobal Employee Option Plan.

ICSGlobal will meet all expenses of the ICSGlobal Employee Option Plan (except any tax liability payable in connection with the issue and 
allotment of shares pursuant to an exercise of an option by a participating employee or any other dealings with the options or shares).  The 
ICSGlobal Employee Option Plan may be terminated or suspended by the board of directors at any time provided such action does not affect or 
prejudice the rights of participating employees.

Options granted to staff generally fall into the following two categories:

Type 1:
Options granted that are exercisable 12 months from the date of grant in respect of 1/3 of options granted, 24 months from date of grant •	
in respect of 1/3 of options granted and 36 months from the date of grant in respect of 1/3 of options granted. Options expire 5 years from 
the date of grant.  All staff are allocated this type of option.  The number of options granted to each staff members and the exercise price 
varies. 

Type 2:
Performance options granted to certain executives, which vest upon the achievement of specified performance milestones.•	
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Movement in Number of Issued Employee Options

Consolidated ICSGlobal Limited

2008 2007 2008 2007

Opening Balance – Number of Options 1,825,000 3,606,667 1,825,000 3,606,667

Number of Options Issued 6,400,000 225,000 6,400,000 225,000

Number of Options Exercised - - - -

Number of Options Cancelled or Lapsed (275,000) (2,006,667) (275,000) (2,006,667)

Closing Balance – Number of Options 7,950,000 1,825,000 7,950,000 1,825,000

Grant Date Expiry Date Exercise 
Price

Balance at 
Start of the 

year

Granted 
during the 

year

Exercised 
during the 

year

Expired 
during the 

year

Balance at 
end of the 

year

Vested & 
Exercisable at 
end of the year

Number Number Number Number Number Number

CONSOLIDATED AND PARENT ENTITY 2008

07/07/2003 08/07/2008 $0.10 175,000 - - - 175,000 -

Dates between 
01/12/2004
& 06/08/2007

Dates 
between 

30/11/2009
& 07/08/2012

$0.50 1,650,000 200,000 - (225,000) 1,625,000 1,250,000

21/12/2007 22/12/2012 $0.32 - 3,950,000 - (50,000) 3,900,000 -

19/02/2008 20/02/2013 $0.38 - 250,000 - - 250,000 -

01/03/2008 02/03/2013 $0.30 - 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 -

Total 1,825,000 6,400,000 - (275,000) 7,950,000 1,250,000

Weighted average exercise price $0.46 $0.32 - $0.47 $0.35 $0.50
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Grant Date Expiry Date Exercise 
Price

Balance at 
Start of the 

year

Granted 
during the 

year

Exercised 
during the 

year

Expired 
during the 

year

Balance at 
end of the 

year

Vested & 
Exercisable at 
end of the year

Number Number Number Number Number Number

CONSOLIDATED AND PARENT ENTITY 2007

Dates between 
24/01/2002
& 23/10/2003

Dates 
between 

23/01/2007
& 22/10/2008

$0.10 625,000 - - (450,000) 175,000 -

Dates between 
30/11/2001
& 1/03/2005

Dates 
between 

29/11/2006
& 28/02/2010

$0.25 481,667 - - (481,667) - -

Dates between 
01/12/2004
& 10/04/2007

Dates 
between 

30/11/2009
& 11/04/2012

$0.50 2,500,000 225,000 - (1,075,000) 1,650,000 641,667

Total 3,606,667 225,000 - (2,006,667) 1,825,000 641,667

Weighted average exercise price $0.40 $0.50 - $0.35 $0.46 $0.50

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise of options exercised regularly during the year ended 30 June 2008 is not applicable 
since no options were exercised. (2007 - $0.00).

The weighted average remaining contractual life of share options outstanding at the end of the period was 4.2 years (2007 – 2.5 years).

Fair value at grant date of options granted during the year ended 30 June 2008 was nil cents per option (2007: Nil cents per option).  The fair 
value at grant date is independently determined using a Black-Scholes option pricing model that takes into account the exercise price, term of 
the option, the impact of dilution, the share price at grant date and expected price volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield 
and the risk free rate for the term of the option.
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NOTE 23  KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES 

Key Management Personnel

Directors
The following persons were directors of ICSGlobal Limited during the financial year:

Ross M. Bunyon - Chairman and non-executive director •	

Timothy J. Murray - Managing Director of the Group and director of Thelma-EU Limited & Thelma-US Inc.•	

Geoffrey E. Lambert - non-executive director•	

Other Key Management Personnel
The following persons also had authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group, directly or 
indirectly, during the financial year:

Lindsay Martin – Chief Financial Officer of the Group and director of Thelma-EU Limited & Thelma-US Inc.•	

Tom Walther – Company Secretary •	

Daniel Rigby – Development Manager•	

Bachman Fulmer – President and CEO of Thelma-US Inc. and director of Thelma-US Inc. •	

All of the above persons were also key management persons during the year ended 30 June 2008, except Bachman Fulmer who commenced in 
his position with the Group on 1 March 2008.  All key management persons are employed by ICSGlobal Limited, except Bachman Fulmer who is 
employed by Thelma-US Inc.

Key Management Personnel Compensation

Consolidated ICSGlobal Limited

2008 2007 2008 2007

$ $ $ $

Short-term employee benefits 994,862 1,038,144 994,862 1,038,144

Post-employment benefits 114,370 256,105 114,370 256,105

Share-based payments (47,790) (22,025) (47,790) (22,025)

1,061,442 1,272,224 1,061,442 1,272,224

The Group has taken advantage of the relief provided by Corporations Regulation 2M.6.04 and has transferred the detailed remuneration 
disclosures to the Directors’ Report.  The relevant information can be found in the Remuneration Report on pages 16-22.

Share Holdings
The numbers of shares in the Company held during the financial year by each director of ICSGlobal Limited and other key management 
personnel of the Group, including their personally related parties, are set out below.  There were no shares granted during the financial year as 
remuneration.
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2008 Balance at the 
start of the year

Rights Issue of Shares 
during the year

On Market (Sale) / 
Purchase during the year

Balance at the end of the 
year

DIRECTORS

R. Bunyon  ¹ 100,000 540,000 - 640,000

T. Murray 12,048,333 3,346,154 - 15,394,487

G. Lambert 2 57,143 522,858 - 580,001

TOTAL 12,205,476 4,409,012 - 16,614,488

KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL
L. Martin 3 512,190 153,847 (47,691) 618,346

T. Walther 20,000 - - 20,000

D. Rigby - - - -

B. Fulmer - 100,000 - 100,000

TOTAL 532,190 253,847 (47,691) 738,346

¹ Shares held by an entity associated with the director
2 Shares held by two entities associated with the director
3 Shares held by the executive officer and a related party of the executive officer

2007 Balance at the 
start of the year

Rights Issue of Shares 
during the year

On Market (Sale) / 
Purchase during the year

Balance at the end of the 
year

DIRECTORS
R. Bunyon  ¹ - - 100,000 100,000

T. Murray 12,048,333 - - 12,048,333

G. Lambert 2 50,000 7,143 - 57,143

TOTAL 12,098,333 7,143 100,000 12,205,476

KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL
L. Martin 3 452,190 65,000 (5,000) 512,190

T. Walther 20,000 - - 20,000

D. Rigby - - - -

TOTAL 472,190 65,000 (5,000) 532,190

¹ Shares held by an entity associated with the director
2 Shares held by two entities associated with the director
3 Shares held by the executive officer and a related party of the executive officer
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Option Holdings
The number of options over ordinary shares in the Group held during the financial year by each director of ICSGlobal Limited and other key 
management personnel of the Group are set out below.

2008
Balance at 

the start of the 
year

Granted as 
Compensation

Options 
Exercised 

during the year

Options that 
Expired during 

the year
Balance at end 

of year
Total 

Exercisable at 
end of year

Total 
Unexercisable 
at end of year

DIRECTORS
R. Bunyon - - - - - - -

T. Murray 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 1,000,000 -

G. Lambert - - - - - - -

TOTAL 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 1,000,000 -

KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL
L. Martin 350,000 1,150,000 - - 1,500,000 250,000 1,250,000

D. Rigby 200,000 800,000 - - 1,000,000 175,000 825,000

T. Walther 225,000 275,000 - - 500,000 175,000 325,000

B. Fulmer - 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 - 2,000,000

TOTAL 775,000 4,225,000 - - 5,000,000 600,000 4,400,000

2007
Balance at 

the start of the 
year

Granted as 
Compensation

Options 
Exercised 

during the year

Options that 
Expired during 

the year
Balance at end 

of year
Total 

Exercisable at 
end of year

Total 
Unexercisable 
at end of year

DIRECTORS
R. Bunyon - - - - - - -

T. Murray 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 1,000,000 -

G. Lambert 100,000 - - (100,000) - - -

TOTAL 1,100,000 - - (100,000) 1,000,000 1,000,000 -

KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL
L. Martin 525,000 - - (175,000) 350,000 83,333 266,667

D. Rigby 200,000 - - - 200,000 91,667 108,333

T. Walther 225,000 - - - 225,000 91,667 133,333

TOTAL 950,000 - - (175,000) 775,000 266,667 508,333
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NOTE 24  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

The ultimate parent entity within the Group is ICSGlobal Limited.

Interests in subsidiaries are set out in Note 25.

Consolidated ICSGlobal Limited

2008 2007 2008 2007

$ $ $ $

Transaction fees, annual fees and other fees from Thelma Pty Ltd - - 1,031,225 885,370

Management fee from Thelma-EU Limited - - 357,503 -

Thelma Pty Ltd loan account balance - - 187,934 195,758

Thelma-EU Limited loan account balance - - 2,884,036 -

NOTE 25  CONTROLLED ENTITIES

Name of Entity Country
of Incorporation

Ownership Interest
Class of Shares

2008 2007

Parent Company: ICSGlobal Limited Australia

Controlled Entity: Thelma Pty Ltd Australia 100 % 100 % Ordinary

Controlled Entity: EziBill Pty Ltd Australia 100 % 100 % Ordinary

Controlled Entity: Thelma-EU Limited England 100 % 100 % Ordinary

Controlled Entity: Thelma US Inc * United States 100 % N/A Ordinary

* Thelma US Inc was incorporated on 23 October 2007

NOTE 26  Company Details 

Registered Office and Principal Place of Business

Level 26, 201 Kent Street, Sydney NSW 2000  

Number of Employees

Number of Employees
Consolidated ICSGlobal Limited

2008 2007 2008 2007

Number of employees at the end of the year 28 19 17 19
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In the opinion of the directors of ICSGlobal Limited:

The accompanying financial statements and notes are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, comply with the accounting standards and 
give a true and fair view of the Company’s and consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2008 and of their performance for the year 
ended on that date.

At the date of this declaration there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become 
due and payable.

The directors have been given the declarations by the chief executive officer and chief financial officer required by Section 295A.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors.

Ross Bunyon

Chairman

Sydney

Dated this 28th day of August 2008

Directors’ Declaration
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Independent Auditor’s Report

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the members of ICSGlobal Limited

Report on the Financial Report

We have audited the accompanying financial report of ICSGlobal Limited (the company), which 
comprises the balance sheet as at 30 June 2008, and the income statement, statement of changes in 
equity and cash flow statement for the year ended on that date, a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory notes and the directors’ declaration of the company and the consolidated 
entity comprising the company and the entities it controlled at the year’s end or from time to time during 
the financial year.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting 
Interpretations) and the Corporations Act 2001. This responsibility includes establishing and maintaining 
internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report that is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting 
policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. 

Auditor’s Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. These Auditing Standards require that we 
comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our audit opinion. 
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Independence

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations 
Act 2001. 

Auditor’s Opinion

In our opinion: 
The financial report of ICSGlobal Limited is in accordance with the a. Corporations Act 2001, including:  

giving a true and fair view of the company’s and consolidated entity’s financial position i. 
as at 30 June 2008 and of their performance for the year ended on that date; and  

complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting ii. 
Interpretations) and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

Report on the Remuneration Report

We have audited the Remuneration Report included on pages 16 to 20 of the directors’ report for 
the year ended 30 June 2008.  The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and 
presentation of the Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 
2001.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit 
conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.

Auditor’s Opinion

In our opinion the Remuneration Report of ICSGlobal Limited for the year ended 30 June 2008, 
complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.

PKF
East Coast Practice

Grant Saxon         Sydney
Partner         28 August 2008
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